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企业文化

We believe that customer loyalty comes from good customer 
experience. Southern Packaging strives to provide exceptional 
service and quick response to customer demand and continue 
to provide customers with packaging solutions.

The key for constant growth of an enterprise is to have an 
endless passion for innovation. Southern Packaging focused 
on innovation that considers the environment and society 
thus improving quality of life for our customers.

We achieve excellence by enhancing product value, employee 
value, business value and social value. Excellent quality not 
only means good product quality, but also high quality service, 
and healthy living space.
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愿 景
装点世界，力臻完美

使 命
以先进的技术满足更广泛的市场需求，以专业的品质
满足客户个性化的需求，以安全、环保的产品回报社
会，为我们的投资者创造长期价值，为我们的员工提
供实现自我价值的舞台，始终坚持共存、双赢的合作
战略。

核心价值观
客户第一 创新环保 追求卓越

客户第一：我们坚信客户忠诚度源于享受具有最佳价
值的客户体验，坚持以提高服务质量，快速响应客户
需求，持续为客户提供产品解决方案。

创新环保：企业突破性发展的关键在于永无止境、永
不间断的进行创新，公司坚持以创新环保改善生活品
质，为客户和环境作出贡献。

追求卓越：以卓越的品质提升产品价值、员工价值、
企业价值和社会价值。卓越的品质不仅是指优秀的产
品质量，还包含最优质的服务、最健康的生活空间。

Corporate Culture
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Corporate Profile 公司介绍
Southern Packaging Group Limited (“the Group”) is a 
producer of flexible and rigid packaging products used in the 
food, medical, personal grooming and household industries, 
and was listed on the main board of the Singapore Stock 
Exchange in the year 2004. We are committed to be the 
preferred suppliers of packaging products and packaging 
consultants to many internationally renowned brands and 
companies, and have production facilities strategically 
located at the most economically vibrant regions in China, 
namely, Southern and Eastern China.

Within the flexible packaging arm, we primarily utilize plastic 
gravure printing technology to provide Printing, Compounding, 
Splitting and Bagging of plastic in producing packaging 
products for our customers. Within the rigid packaging arm, 
we utilize Wheel Blow Molding, One Step Injection Stretch 
Blow Molding, Injection Molding, In-mold Labeling, Extrusion 
Blow Molding, Injection Blow Molding, Silk Screen, Film 
Blowing, Printing, Stamping and other additional services to 
produce packaging products for our customers.

We leverage on our established and resourceful research 
and development platform to provide complete packaging 
solutions for our customers. In our packaging industry, 
qualities such as environmental friendliness, cleanliness 
and safety are fundamental. We retain and strengthen our 
competitive advantages by the continuous development of our 
cutting-edge polymer chemistry technologies and expertise in 
material sciences and plastic molding. We firmly believe in 
developing packaging with social responsibility, and we are 
proud to be the “brand behind the renowned brands”. 

南方包装集团有限公司于2004年成为新加坡交易所主
板市场的上市公司，是一所主营生产食品、药品、个
人护理品及家庭用品行业的塑料软包装与硬包装的科
技型企业，我们是众多国际知名品牌的包装供应商及
包装技术顾问，集团生产基地主要布局在全球最大经
济体之一的中国，分别在经济最为活跃的中国南部及
东部地区建立了生产基地，拥有宽广的塑料包装工艺
设备与技术，为众多的领先企业提供塑料包装产品及
包装解决方案。

塑料软包装主要是采用塑料凹版印刷技术为客户提供
以下的服务:

 » 吹膜
 » 印刷
 » 复合
 » 分条、制袋

硬包装主要集中在中空成型技术为客户提供以下成型
工艺服务:

 » 全自动高速轮转中空成型
 » 注拉吹一步法中空成型
 » 注塑成型、模内贴标
 » 挤吹成型
 » 注吹成型
 » 丝印、移印、烫印等附加服务

我们利用强大的研发平台与供应链资源，为客户提供
整体包装解决方案。
环保、安全、高洁净需求是我们市场所在，集团的竞
争优势驻留在我们强大的高分子化学、材料科学及塑
料成型领域，我们以高度的社会责任推动包装事业的
发展，我们为能成为“知名品牌后的品牌”感到自豪。
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Dear Shareholders, 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present 
to you the Annual report of Southern Packaging Group 
Limited (“Southern Packaging”) for the financial year ended  
31 December 2017 (“FY2017”).

Southern Packaging is a professional plastic packaging 
provider with many years experience in the industry. We are 
able to meet the highest and most stringent requirements from 
pharmaceutical, food and beverage, personal care industries. 
We continue to invest in research and development to create 
more practical, more attractive and cost-effective packaging, 
as well as packaging solutions that are more environmentally 
friendly. 

During the year, we uphold the concept of customer first. 
Through operation resource integration and innovation, we 
are able to meet the needs of our customers and achieve our 
sales target. The Group’s sales revenue increased by 11%  
(RMB 73 million), from RMB 650 million in FY2016 to 
RMB 723 million in FY2017. Rigid packaging is our main 
growth point. As the new production base in East China put 
into use, the company has increased production capacity and 
operational efficiency. The sales revenue of rigid packaging 
reached a record high of RMB 428 million in FY2017 
(16% increase) compared to RMB 370 million in FY2016. 
The sales revenue of flexible packaging increased by 5% 
(RMB14 million), from RMB 281 million in FY2016 to RMB  
295 million in FY2017.

HIGHLIGHTS FOR YEAR 2017

 » Sales revenue increased by 11%;

 » Net profit is RMB 25.7 million 
in FY2017;

 » The total assets reached  
RMB 1 billion for the first time;

 » Imported the first automated 
wheel blowing bottle machine 
line from our US supplier into 
China.

Chairman’s Message
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We will start our business property development project in 
Foshan China. At present, we have finished the architectural 
planning and construction will be carried out in due course. 
The project will accommodate our new R&D and sales office 
for the Group and also increase our Group’s revenue from 
property development in future.

Company will continue to use its significant influence and 
professional skills to improve business performance and 
operating efficiency, thus we could distinguish from our 
competitors. In term of business structure, rigid packaging 
and flexible packaging can co-operate with each other. In 
term of regional service, we have production bases in South 
China and East China to get close to customer. 

I would also like to extend my appreciation to the management 
team and staffs, customers, suppliers and shareholders for 
their trust and support to the Group.

The Board of Directors has proposed a cash dividend of 
S$0.0036 per ordinary share.

Pan Shun Ming
Executive Chairman
Southern Packaging Group Limited

The net profit is RMB 25.7 million in FY2017. The company 
remains profitable although we are facing pressure from 
rising material cost and labour cost. The net asset per share 
has increased 4% to RMB 7.82 in FY2017. The tangible 
asset of the company continues to rise and I appreciate the 
effort and wisdom of the Board and the management team. 
The EBITDA is RMB 93.9 million which provide sufficient 
fund for our future development. The total assets reached  
RMB 1 billion for the first time. 

In December 2017, our subsidiary Southern Packaging 
(Jiangsu) Co. Ltd. imported the first automated wheel 
blowing bottle machine line from our US supplier into 
China. The production process will become more efficient, 
stable and cost-saving. This attracts the attention of many 
multination companies in consumer goods. We believe that 
our service efficiency could improve tremendously. The future 
development of the company needs to combine the utilization 
of the technology and innovation.

Sustainable development is the common pursuit of global 
economic development. We plan to upgrade our production 
facilities and equipment with the intention to enhance 
energy efficiency. At the same time, we also ensure that 
our production facility will comply with the government 
environmental standard.
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亲爱的股东

时光荏苒，再创辉煌！我谨代表董事局向大家呈报2017财务
年度报告。

南方包装作为消费类塑料包装的专业服务及产品提供商，我
们专注于食品公司、医疗和制药公司以及个人护理公司的塑
料包装需求，积累了数十年的专业经验，这一领域越来越依
赖包装来满足消费者对安全、新鲜和优质产品的期望。我们
不断投入研发，创造更实用、更具吸引力、更有性价比的包
装，以及提供更符合环保理念的包装解决方案。

2017年度，我们秉承客户为先的理念，通过对营运要素资源
的有效整合，坚持以创新为导向，充分满足了塑料包装市场
的客户需求，实现了销售业绩的持续增长。财务年度内，我
们的销售收入达到人民币7.23亿元，较2016年度的6.5亿元增
加了7300万元，增长11%。硬包装的是我们的发展突破口，
随着硬包装生产基地新车间年内顺利投产、产能不断提高及
营运效率的提升，使得2017年度硬包装的销售有着非常亮丽
的表现，其销售收入从2016年的3.70亿元人民币增加到2017
年的4.28亿元人民币，增加了5800万元人民币，增幅为16％
，硬包装销售达到了历史的新高； 软包销售收入也从2016年
的2.81亿元人民币增加到2017年的2.95亿元人民币，增加了
1400万元人民币，增幅为5％。

2017年度税后净利润为人民币2570万元，公司有效的销售
组合策略与极具效率的营运能力最大限度地消化了石油价格
上升带动的原材料价格上升以及劳动力成本增长的压力，保
持了公司的持续获利。年度末公司每股净资产上升到人民币
7.82元，较去年的每股净资产人民币7.52元，升幅4%，公
司的有形价值保持持续的提升，本人非常赞赏董事局及公
司各级营运团队的智慧。公司的息税前收入（EBITDA）为  
9390万元，为我们未来的发展提供了极之有效的资金保证。
集团的总资产首次达到了人民币10亿元。

2017年度12月，我们从美国引进的中国市场上首条全自动高
速轮转吹瓶生产线顺利在江苏南方包装公司投入运营，低人
工成本、高质高效的技术特性引起了众多消费品跨国企业的
关注，这条结合全球最先进技术的智能化生产线的投产，相
信是南方包装辉煌的过去与更为科技更为美好的未来的一个
转折点，我们的硬包装服务技术水平得到了飞跃的发展。

科技与智慧是公司未来技术选型与发展的基本原则，人才是
支撑技术进步的要素，我们将加大人才的培训与引进，保证
和推动公司的健康发展。

可持续发展是全球经济发展的共同追求，来年我们将断续提
升公司对社会和环境的贡献，以最小的消耗满足社会、客户
的需求，为人类建立和维护健康环境的共同使命作出努力。

结合中国启动在广东粤港澳大湾区发展的政策利好，我们决
定启动在中国佛山的商业地产项目的建设，该项目地块位于
中国佛山，目前已完成建筑规划工作，将适时进行全面的建
筑施工。项目未来将为集团带来新的研发、销售办公场地，
并形成新的经营资产。

公司将继续利用其全球影响力和专业技能，继续提升商业绩
效和运营效率，并将自己与竞争对手区分开来，在业务结构
上软、硬包装联动发展；区域服务策略上与客户贴近供应；
生产运营流程上向科技与智慧型转向，目的是让资本获得最
强劲的回报和增长。

衷心感谢公司团队的智慧与勤勉，感谢我们的客户、供应
商、股东给予南方包装集团一如既往的信任与支持。

董事局提议股东大会通过2017年度分红政策：每股普通股以
现金形式分派新加坡币0.0036元（S$0.0036）的现金红利。

谢谢！
 

彭顺铭
执行主席
南方包装集团有限公司

2017年全年亮点

 » 销售收入达到人民币7.23亿元;
 » 税后净利润为人民币2570万元;
 » 总资产首次达到了人民币10亿

元;
 » 中国市场上首条全自动高速轮

转吹瓶生产线顺利投入运营。

2017年主席发言
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2017 2016

Revenue 723 650

Gross Profit 163 174

Net Profit 26 41

Total Assets 999 910

Total Liabilities 450 381

Shareholders’ Equity 550 529

Cash and Bank Balances and Fixed Deposits 129 115

Earning per share (cents) after share consolidation 37 58

Flexible packaging

SEGMENTAL REVENUE
(IN RMB MILLION)

2017 2017

428 105

295

58

2016 2016

370
98

281
76

Rigid packaging

SEGMENTAL GROSS PROFIT
(IN RMB MILLION)

12 MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(IN RMB MILLION)

Financial Highlight as at 31 December 2017
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Revenue
By Business Segments

FY2017 FY2016
Change

RMB`000 % RMB`000 %

Rigid packaging 427,878 59.2% 369,762 56.8% 15.7%

Flexible packaging 295,137 40.8% 280,738 43.2% 5.1%

Total 723,015 100.0% 650,500 100.0% 11.1%

The sales revenue increased by 11.1% to RMB 723 million in FY2017. Sales of rigid packaging increased by 15.7% to  
RMB 427.9 million and sales of flexible packaging increased by 5.1% to RMB 295.1 million in FY2017.

During the year, the Group’s gross profit decreased by 6.7% to RMB 162.7 million. The gross profit of rigid packaging increased 
by 6.4% to RMB 104.6 million. The gross profit of flexible packaging decreased by 23.6% to RMB 58.1 million. The gross 
profit decreased mainly due to the increase in purchase price of raw materials and labor costs.

In terms of sales revenue by geographical regions, PRC region sales revenue increased by 11.3% to RMB 667.7 million in 
FY2017, accounting for 92.3% of Group’s total revenue for FY2017. Revenue from other regions increased slightly.

Gross Profit
By Business Segments

FY2017 FY2016
Change

RMB`000 % RMB`000 %

Rigid packaging 104,581 64.3% 98,271 56.4% 6.4%

Flexible packaging 58,078 35.7% 76,027 43.6% -23.6%

Total 162,659 100.0% 174,298 100.0% -6.7%

Revenue
By Geographical Segment

FY2017 FY2016
Change

RMB`000 % RMB`000 %

PRC 667,709 92.3% 599,791 92.3% 11.3%

Hong Kong, PRC 19,737 2.7% 9,856 1.5% 100%

America 6,376 1% 13,303 2% -52.1%

Others 29,193 4% 27,550 4.2% 6%

Total 723,015 100.0% 650,500 100.0% 11.1%

Operations & Financial Review
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2017年度集团销售收入7.23亿，同比上涨11.1%。其中硬包装销售收入4.28亿，同比上涨15.7%;软包装销售收入
2.95亿，同比上涨5.1%。

今年，集团的毛利为1.63亿，同比下降6.7%。其中硬包装毛利1.05亿，同比上涨6.4%；软包装毛利为0.58亿，同
比下降23.6%。毛利下降的主要原因是原材料价格及人力成本的上涨。

从区域销售情况来看，中国区的销售收入上涨11.3%，其销售额达人民币6.7亿元，占销售总额的92.3%；中国区
以外的销售额稍微上涨。 

销售额
FY2017 FY2016

变化
RMB`000 % RMB`000 %

硬包装 427,878 59.2% 369,762 56.8% 15.7%

软包装 295,137 40.8% 280,738 43.2% 5.1%

合计 723,015 100.0% 650,500 100.0% 11.1%

毛利
FY2017 FY2016

变化
RMB`000 % RMB`000 %

硬包装 104,581 64.3% 98,271 56.4% 6.4%

软包装 58,078 35.7% 76,027 43.6% -23.6%

合计 162,659 100.0% 174,298 100.0% -6.7%

销售额
FY2017 FY2016

变化
RMB`000 % RMB`000 %

中国 667,709 92.3% 599,791 92.3% 11.3%

中国 香港 19,737 2.7% 9,856 1.5% 100%

美国 6,376 1% 13,303 2% -52.1%

其他 29,193 4% 27,550 4.2% 6%

合计 723,015 100.0% 650,500 100.0% 11.1%

营运及财务回顾
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Pan Shun Ming
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Pan is our Executive Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and the co-founder 
of our Group. He is responsible for our Group’s overall business strategies and 
policies. He has more than 30 years of experience in the packaging industry. 
In November 2000, Mr. Pan was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the 
Nanhai Printing and Packaging Association. On 15 March 2001, Mr. Pan was 
also appointed as the Foreign Investment Consultant of the Nanhai People’s 
Government. In recognition of his entrepreneurship and management ability, 
Mr. Pan served as a council member to PRC’s National Entrepreneur Association 
in April 2000.

Chen Xiang Zhi
Executive Director and Vice Chairman

Mr. Chen, the Executive Director and Vice Chairman, joined our Group on  
26 January 2010. He is responsible for assisting the Chairman and CEO for the 
development of the Group’s business strategies and policies. Mr. Chen has more 
than 12 years of experience in large-scale enterprise management and is very 
experienced and good at capital operations. He joined Guangzhou Wanglaoji 
Pharmaceutical Company Limited as the Chairman & General Manager in 
1998 and then Guangzhou Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited, a public listed 
company in China, as Managing Director in 2000. He was appointed as the 
Managing Director of Guangzhou Baiyunshan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd, also a 
listed company in China in 2001. Mr. Chen was then appointed as the Deputy 
Managing Director of Guangzhou Light Industry & Trade Group Ltd; Chairman 
of Guangzhou Lonkey Co., Ltd (a listed company in China); Vice Chairman of 
MeadJohnson Nutrition (China) Co., Ltd, as well as Vice Chairman of Guangzhou 
Pacific Tinplate Co., Ltd. since 2004.

Pu Jinbo
Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer 

Mr. Pu, our Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer, joined our 
Group in 1999. He is currently responsible for the overall investment strategies 
of the Group. Mr. Pu has more than 15 years of experience in food industry. 
He graduated with a Diploma from Guangdong No.2 Polytechnic in 1984 
and holds an EMBA degree from the National University of Singapore. After 
graduating in 1984, Mr. Pu joined Guangzhou Friendship Food Company and 
served there until 1997, when he was the Assistant General Manager. Mr. Pu 
was awarded the title Assistant Economist by Guangzhou Business Department 
Titles Amendment Group in July 1993.

Board of Directors
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Mai Shuying
Executive Director

Ms. Mai is our Finance Director, Executive Director and the co-founder of our 
Group. Ms. Mai founded our Group together with Mr. Pan in the early 1980s. 
She is in-charge of our Group’s finance department and is responsible in 
managing financial matters, in particular, overseeing the fund disbursement and 
administrative matters. Mr. Pan Shun Ming and Ms. Mai Shuying are spouses.

Li Yonghua
Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Li Yonghua, the Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer, joined our 
Group in 2002. He is currently responsible for the operation of the Group and 
oversees day to day function of the Group. Mr. Li holds a MBA degree from Hong 
Kong University of Science and Technology. He was Account Manager in Rexam 
Derkwei Industrial (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd from 1999 to 2001 before he joined 
Foshan Southern Packaging in Dec 2002 as Sales Manager. He was promoted 
as Assistant to the President in 2004 and then Deputy General Manager in  
July 2006, mainly responsible for sales and marketing. Mr. Li was then appointed 
as General Manager of Foshan Southern Packaging in the end of 2007. 

Yeung Koon Sang @ David Yeung
Lead Independent Director

Mr. Yeung was appointed as an Independent Director of our Company in 
September 2004. He is the managing director of Kreston David Yeung PAC, which 
he founded in 1987. He has over 20 years’ experience in public accountancy 
and had worked previously with Deloitte & Touché, UK and Ernst & Young, 
Singapore. He was conferred the Public Service Medal by the President of the 
Republic of Singapore in 2001. Mr. Yeung holds a Master of Social Science 
(Accounting) degree from the University of Birmingham, England. He is also a 
practising member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and a 
fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, United Kingdom.
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Chia Chor Leong
Independent Director

Mr Chia was appointed as an Independent Director of our Company in  
October 2014. Mr Chia obtained an LL.B. (Honours) degree from the University 
of Singapore in 1980 and was admitted as an advocate and solicitor of the 
Supreme Court of Singapore in 1981. He has been practising as an advocate 
and solicitor since 1981, and is presently a director of Citilegal LLC., a law 
corporation. Mr Chia is a distinguished solicitor, a Fellow of the Singapore 
Institute of Arbitrators and a member of that Institute’s Panel of Arbitrators. 
He is an accredited adjudicator and an associate mediator with the Singapore 
Mediation Centre. He is also a commissioner for oaths as well as a notary public. 
Mr Chia was formerly the Chairman of the Criminal Law Advisory Committee 
(Review), and presently serves as the Chairman of the External Placement 
Review Board and as a member of the Independent Review Panel of the Ministry 
of Home Affairs, Singapore. He is also a member of the Singapore Road Safety 
Council. In recognition of his public service over the years since 1987, Mr Chia 
was awarded the Pingat Bakti Masyarakat (Public Service Medal) in 2000 and 
the Bintang Bakti Masyarakat (Public Service Star) in 2007.

Chung Tang Fong
Independent Director

Mr Chung was appointed as an Independent Director of our Company in  
May 2014. He was the one of the founders of the NUS Business School  
Mandarin Alumni and serviced as the President between 2008 and 2012.  
Mr Chung holds a Bachelor of Arts from Ottawa University, Kansas, USA, a 
Master of Business from Curtin University of Technology, Perth, Australia, 
a Doctorate in Business Administration from Victoria University School of 
Management, Neuchatel, Switzerland. He was admitted as a Fellow of the 
Chartered Management Institute, UK., Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Management, Victoria, Australia, and a Research Scholar with the School of 
Economics at Peking University, China. In addition, Mr Chung attained a Master 
in Public Administration & Management from Lee Kuan Yew School of Public 
Policy, National University of Singapore. Mr Chung is an active community 
leader. He is appointed as a Town Councillor of Jurong-Clementi Town Council 
and Chairman of its Tenders and Contracts Committee. He is also a Adviser 
of Keming Primary School Advisory Committee and Honorary President of the 
Singapore Chung Hwa Medical Institution. He was appointed as a Licensed 
Solemnizer cum Deputy Registrar of Marriages and District Councillor of 
South West CDC for more than a decade. In recognition of his public service,  
Mr Chung was awarded the Pingat Bakti Masyarkat (Public Service Medal) in 
2004 and the Bintang Bakti Masyarakat (Public Service Star) in 2008.

Board of Directors
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Tan Jiansheng
Independent Director

Mr. Tan was appointed as an Independent Director of our Company in February 
2017. Mr Tan is an Economist. He is currently the member of Asset management 
committee of Foshan Dongjian Group Limited which work in the real estate 
development, asset management and participate in the management of assets 
approximately RMB 16 billion. He is currently the General Manager of Bodun 
Investment Management Company Limited (estate development industry) and 
Foshan Shenggen Investment Management Company Limited (finance and 
investment industry).

Guo Weihai
Independent Director

Mr. Guo was appointed as an Independent Director of our Company in 
February 2017. Mr Guo obtained a college degree in mechanical design and 
manufacturing. He was the General Manager of Guangzhou Food Industry and 
Health Inspection Institute between 2007 and 2013 and Guangzhou Food 
Inspection Institute between 2013 and 2016. He has over 25 years of overall 
management in operation of enterprises and institutes and familiar with relevant 
laws, regulations and policies in the manufacturing industry.
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Pan Zhaojin
Deputy Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Pan Zhaojin joined our Group in 2007. He is appointed 
as Deputy Chief Operating Officer in February 2017. He is 
responsible for marketing and business development for the 
Group. Mr. Pan holds an IMBA degree from Sun Yat Sen 
University. He first joined the company as a CEO assistant in 
2007 and was promoted as Vice General Manager in 2009, 
mainly responsible for Human Resource Management and 
R&D department.

Lao Jing Wen
Financial Controller

Ms Lao Jing Wen joined the Group in August 2011. She 
is responsible for overseeing the financial reporting and 
accounting functions of the Group and subsidiaries of the 
Group. She is a Certified Practicing Accountant of Australia. 
Ms Lao received a Bachelor of Science from GuangDong 
University of Technology in 1987, and then she obtained a 
Diploma in accounting from Macquarie University in Australia 
in 1996. She has more than 15 years of experience in 
accounting and audit firm. She joined Zhou Xin Accounting 
Firm Ltd as a tax consultant in 1999 and responsible for 
preparing tax return and providing tax advises for her clients. 
Before joining the Southern Packaging Group, she held a 
position as audit manager in Katax C.P.A Limited (HongKong) 
for 5 years.

Zhang Jian Ling
Chief Investment Officer

Ms. Zhang Jian Ling joined the Group in April 1993. She 
is responsible for import of equipment and materials and 
export of packaging products as well as corporate expansion 
and investment projects. Ms. Zhang holds a Bachelor of 
Science from the Southern China Technological University. 
After graduating in 1988, she joined the Nanhai Guicheng 
Light Chemical Industry Development Department of the 
Guicheng Economic Development Group and assisted in the 
establishment of Sino-Foreign joint ventures and corporate 
secretarial matters. She was transferred  to Nanhai Zhujiang 
Packaging & Printing Co., L td in 1990.

Guo Wei
Vice President (Production and Research & Development)
(Retired on 31 December 2017)

Mr. Guo Wei joined the Group in May 2003. Mr. Guo graduated 
from the Tianjing School of Arts (University) in 1988 and has 
more than 20 years of experience in the packaging industry. 
Before joining the Foshan Packaging Group as Plant Manager, 
he served in various management positions at Jinan Dong Tai 
Packaging.

Key Management
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The Board of Directors of Southern Packaging Group Limited (the “Board”) (the “Company”), is committed to 
maintain high standards of corporate governance within the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) to 
ensure eff ective self regulation practices are in place to enhance corporate performance and accountability. 

The Board, guided by the Singapore Code of Corporate Governance 2012 (the “CG Code 2012”) issued by the 
Monetary Authority of Singapore and the disclosure guide developed by the Singapore Securities Trading 
Limited (the “SGX-ST”) (the “Guide”), remains committed to the principles and guidelines stated therein to 
achieve high standards of business integrity, ethics and professionalism across all its activities. The Company 
has generally complies with key principles and guidelines set out in the CG Code 2012 for the fi nancial year 
ended 31 December 2017 (“FY2017”). Appropriate explanations have been provided in the relevant sections 
below where there are deviations from the CG Code 2012 and/or the Guide.

BOARD MATTERS 

The Board’s Conduct of its Aff airs

Principle 1  Every company should be headed by an eff ective Board to lead and control the 
company. The Board is collectively responsible for the success of the Company. 
The Board works with Management to achieve this and the Management remains 
accountable to the Board.

1.1 Role of the Board

The Board is entrusted with and has the responsibility for the overall management of the Group. It establishes 
the corporate strategies of the Group, sets direction and goals for the executive management. It supervises the 
executive management and monitors performance of these goals to enhance shareholders’ value. The Board 
is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the Group to ensure the Group’s strategies are in the 
interests of the Group and its shareholders. 

1.2 The principal functions of the Board apart from its statutory responsibilities are:

a) to provide entrepreneurial leadership; approve the strategic objectives, corporate policies and 
authorisation matrix of the Company; and ensure that the necessary fi nancial and human resources are 
in place for the Company to meet its objectives;

b) to approve the nominations to the Board and appointment of key management, as may be 
recommended by the Nominating Committee;

c) to oversee the processes for risk management, fi nancial reporting and compliance and evaluate the 
adequacy of internal controls; approve annual budget, key operational matters, major acquisition and 
divestment proposals, major funding proposals of the Company;

d) to assume responsibility for corporate governance framework of the Company and establish a 
framework of prudent and eff ective controls which enables risks to be assessed and managed, including 
safeguarding of shareholders’ interests and company’s assets; 

e) to review management performance;

f) to identify the key stakeholder groups and recognise that their perceptions aff ect the Company’s 
reputation;

g) to set values and standards (including ethical standards) of the Company and ensure that obligations to 
shareholders and others are understood and met; 
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h) to monitor and manage potential confl ict of interests between the key management personnel, the 
Board and the shareholders; and

i) to promote corporate social responsibilities throughout the Group and include environmental and social 
factors as part of its strategic formulation.

1.3 Delegation by the Board

To facilitate eff ective management and to support the Board in the execution of its duties, the Board has 
established an Audit, Nominating and Remuneration Committees. These committees function within clearly 
defi ned terms of references and operating procedures, which are reviewed on a regular basis. The names of 
the members, principal roles and responsibilities of respective Board Committees are set out in this Report. 
The Board accepts that while these Board Committees have the authority to examine particular issues and 
will report back to the Board with their decisions and/or recommendations, the ultimate responsibility on all 
matters lies with the Board.

1.4 Board meetings and attendance

The full Board meets on a regular basis and as when necessary to address any specifi c signifi cant matters 
that may arise. To ensure meetings are held regularly with maximum Director participation, the Company’s 
Constitution allows a Director to participate at Board meetings by telephone or video-conference or other 
similar communication equipment which will permit all persons participating in the meeting to communicate 
with each other simultaneously and instantaneously. Dates of the Board meetings, Board Committees 
meetings and annual general meetings are scheduled in advance in consultation with all of the Directors. The 
Board and Board Committees also approve transactions by way of written resolutions, which are circulated to 
the Board and Committee members together with all relevant information regarding the proposed resolutions/
transactions.

The Independent Directors of the Company discuss issues via meetings, telephone and electronic devices as 
the situations require without the presence of the other Directors. The Lead Independent Director will provide 
feedback to the Chairman if it is deemed necessary.

The numbers of the Board and respective Board Committees meetings held during the FY2017 and the 
attendance of each Director where relevant are as follows:

Board
Audit 

Committee
Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

No. of meetings 4 4 1 1
Attendance :
Pan Shun Ming 4 N/A N/A N/A
Chen Xiang Zhi 4 N/A N/A N/A
Pu Jinbo 4 N/A N/A N/A
Mai Shuying 2 N/A N/A N/A
Li Yonghua 4 N/A N/A N/A
Yeung Koon Sang @ David Yeung 4 4 1 1
Chung Tang Fong 4 4 1 1
Chia Chor Leong  3 3 1 1
Tan Jiansheng1 2 2 N/A N/A
Guo Weihai1 3 3 N/A N/A

N/A: Not Applicable

1 Mr Tan Jiansheng and Mr Guo Weihai were appointed as Independent Directors and members of the Audit, 
Remuneration and Nominating Committees on 27 February 2017.
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1.5 Matters reserved for the Board’s decisions

The Company has in place a limitation and authorisation policy. The policy contains materiality threshold(s) 
and a schedule of matters specifi cally reserved for the Board’s approval. Below the Board’s level, there are 
appropriate delegations of authority at the management level, to facilitate operational effi  ciency. 

The following matters have been reserved for the Board’s decision:

 the Group’s long term objectives and commercial strategy;

 the making of any decision to cease to operate all or any material part of the business of the Group or to 
venture into new business;

 merger and amalgamation initiatives;

 changes in capital structure;

 acquisition or divestment of any investment and asset by the Company or any of its subsidiaries;

 approval of fi nancial results announcements, Annual Reports and Audited Financial Statements;  

 recommendation or declaration of dividend;

 reviewing the performance of the Board annually;

 appointment or removal of director from the Board (with recommendation made by the Nominating 
Committee) and the appointment or removal of the Company Secretary;

 make changes to the structure and size of the Board, following receipt of recommendation from the 
Nominating Committee;

 in the case of any confl ict of interests which the Board, after being appropriately advised, considers to be 
material, as to whether such confl ict should be authorised and, if so, authorise such confl ict upon such 
terms and conditions as the Board considers appropriate;

 remuneration packages for Executive Directors and key management personnel; and

 any matter required to be considered or approved by the Board as a matter of law or regulation.

1.6 Board induction and training

The Company does not have a formal training program for the Directors but newly appointed Directors are 
provided with suffi  cient information regarding the Group’s businesses and governance practices. Directors 
also have the opportunity to visit the Group’s operational facilities and meet with Management to be familiar 
with the business operations. For future appointments, the Company will also provide each newly appointed 
Director with a formal letter of appointment setting out the Director’s duties and obligations.

During FY2017, the Company held site visits for the Directors to the Company’s corporate offi  ce and its 
operation site, during which they received updates and information in relation to the Group’s businesses, 
production facilities, commercial risks faced by the Group, industry developments, business initiatives, Listing 
Manual and accounting standards. Updates on the relevant legal, regulatory and technical developments may 
be in writing or disseminated by way of briefi ngs, presentations and/or handouts on a timely basis. Where 
necessary, the Company arranges for presentations by external professionals, consultants and advisers on 
topics that would have an impact on the relevant regulations, accounting standards, and the implications on 
responsibilities of the Directors.
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The Directors are informed and encouraged to attend relevant courses conducted by the Singapore Institute 
of Directors (“SID”) and the SGX-ST, which would be funded by the Company. Some of the Directors had during 
FY2017 attended seminars on fi nancial reporting, audits and sustainability jointly organised by ACRA, SGX and 
SID.

1.7 Formal appointment letter to each Director

The new Director, will receive a formal letter from the Company setting out the duties and responsibilities as a 
director and the Company will register relevant training courses i.e. jointly organised by SID and SGX-ST for the 
new Director. The training and professional development for new Director will be funded by the Company.

The Company will arrange an orientation program to the new Director and by invitation of the Board 
Committees and Directors, to enable them to familiarise themselves with the Group’s business and governance 
practices. They will also brief on relevant regulations in relation to the business of the Group, shares dealing 
policy of the Group, their notifi cation obligations under the Companies Act (Chapter 50) and Securities and 
Futures Act. 

Board Composition and Guidance

Principle 2  There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to 
exercise objective judgement on corporate aff airs independently, in particular, from 
Management and 10% shareholders. No individual or small group of individuals 
should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

2.1,2.2 & 3.3 Independent Directors

The Board currently comprises the following members:

1. Pan Shun Ming (Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Offi  cer (“CEO”))

2. Chen Xiang Zhi (Executive Director and Vice Chairman)

3. Pu Jinbo (Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Offi  cer)

4. Mai Shuying (Executive Director)

5. Li Yonghua (Executive Director and Chief Operating Offi  cer)

6. Yeung Koon Sang @ David Yeung (Lead Independent Director)

7. Chung Tang Fong (Independent Director)

8. Chia Chor Leong (Independent Director)

9. Tan Jiansheng (Independent Director)

10. Guo Weihai (Independent Director)

The current Board of Directors comprises ten (10) Directors, fi ve (5) of whom are Independent Directors and Mr 
Yeung Koon Sang @ David Yeung (“Mr David Yeung”) is the Lead Independent Director of the Company. There 
is a good balance between the Executive and Non-Executive Directors as well as strong independent element 
on the Board with Independent Directors making up at least one-third of the Board. 

With the change of board members eff ective 27 February 2017 announced by the Company via SGXNet, the 
Company has met the requirement under Guideline 2.2 of the CG Code 2012, that at least half of the Board are 
Independent Directors where: 1) the Chairman of the Board and the CEO is the same person; 2) the Chairman 
is part of the management team; and 3) the Chairman is not an Independent Director. 
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2.3 Review of Directors’ independence

The independence of each Director is reviewed annually by the NC. The NC has adopted the CG Code 2012’s 
defi nitions of an Independent Director in its review. Each independent director is required to submit a 
confi rmation of independence based on the guideline provided in the CG Code 2012. 

Mr David Yeung, Mr Chung Tang Fong, Mr Chia Chor Leong, Mr Tan Jiansheng and Mr Guo Weihai have 
confi rmed that they do not have any relationship with the Company, or its related corporations or its 10% 
shareholders or its offi  cers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of 
their independence business judgement with a view to the best interests of the Company. All the said Directors 
had submitted the confi rmation of their independence and the NC has reviewed and determined that the 
said Directors are independent. Taking into account the views of the NC, the Board determined that the said 
Directors are independent in character and judgment and no relationships or circumstances which are likely to 
aff ect, or could appear to aff ect, the said Directors’ judgment.

There  is  no  Director  who  is  deemed  independent  by  the  Board,  notwithstanding  the  existence  of  a 
relationship as stated in the Guideline 2.3 of the CG Code 2012 that would otherwise deem him not to be 
independent. No NC member was involved in the deliberation in respect of his independence.

2.4 Duration of Independent Director’s tenure

Rigorous reviews have been carried out by the Board to assess the independent status of Mr David Yeung 
(who was appointed on 23 September 2004), who has served on the Board beyond nine years and was of the 
view that he is objective and independent in expressing his views and in participating in deliberations and 
decision making of the Board and Board Committees. The NC is of the view that he is considered independent 
in accordance with the Guideline 2.3 of the CG Code 2012. The NC is of the opinion that Mr David Yeung 
continues to exercise strong independent business judgement with a view to the best interests of the Company 
and shareholders. The independence of Mr David Yeung was not in any way aff ected by the length of service 
and the NC is satisfi ed that he contributed to the Board with his invaluable experience and expertise. Having 
reviewed the Board composition through the annual Board evaluation, the Board has considered that there is 
no current need for progressive refreshing of the Board. 

2.5 & 2.6 Board Composition

The NC and the Board examines the present size and composition of the Board and is satisfi ed that: (i) it is 
an appropriate size and with its diversifi ed background and experience provides core competencies such as 
fi nance, accounting, legal, business management, industry knowledge and strategic planning experience; (ii) it 
facilitates eff ective decision making and ensure the balance of power with no individual or group of individuals 
dominates the Board’s decision making process. 

The Board’s policy with regard to diversity in identifying director nominees is to have an appropriate mix of 
members with complementary skills, core competencies and experience for the Group such as accounting 
or fi nance, business or management experience and industry knowledge for the eff ective functioning of the 
Board, regardless of gender. The Board has taken steps to maintain or enhance its balance and diversity by 
conducting annual evaluation of the Board and individual Director assessment by the NC to assess if the Board 
has the right mix of expertise, gender, experience and skills for the eff ectiveness of the Board.

2.7 & 2.8 Non-executive Director Meetings in Absence of Management 

The Board and Management are given opportunities to engage in open and constructive debate for the 
furtherance of achieving strategic objectives. The Non-Executive Directors may challenge and help develop 
proposals on strategy, review the performance of and to extend guidance to Management. Non-Executive 
Directors have been actively participating in discussions and decision-making at the Board and the Board 
Committees’ levels, and had open discussions with Management. Where necessary, the Non-Executive 
Directors meet or via telephone and electronic devices discuss on the Group’s aff airs without the presence of 
Management.  
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Chairman and Chief Executive Offi  cer

Principle 3 There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and 
the executives responsible for managing the company’s business. No one individual should 
represent a considerable concentration of power.

3.1 & 3.2 Role of Chairman and the CEO

The Group’s Executive Chairman, Pan Shun Ming (“Mr Pan”), also assumes the role of a CEO as he is the 
founder of the Group. Being the CEO of the Company, Mr Pan oversees the day to day management and 
operations of the Group and is responsible for setting the Group’s overall business strategies and policies, 
objectives and missions, as well as executing the Board’s decision plan and driving the Group’s growth and 
development. Mr Pan has considerable industry experience and has also provided the Group with strong 
leadership and vision. 

As the Executive Chairman of the Company, he is responsible for (i) leading the Board to ensure its 
eff ectiveness in all aspects of its role; (ii) establishing the agenda for the Board meetings in consultation with 
the Company Secretary, ensuring  Board meetings are held when necessary, and adequate time is available for 
discussion of all agenda items, in particular strategic issues; (iii) reviewing the board papers in consultation with 
Management and ensuring that the Board receives complete, adequate and timely information to enable them 
to be fully cognisant of the aff airs of the Group; (iv) encouraging constructive relations among the Directors 
and their interactions with Management; and (v) facilitating the eff ective contribution of the Non-Executive 
Directors; (vi) take a lead role in promoting high standards of corporate governance, with the full support of 
the Directors, the Company Secretary and Management. At Annual General Meetings of the Company, the 
Chairman plays a pivotal role in fostering constructive dialogue between the shareholders, the Board and 
Management.

The Company has not adopted the recommendation of the CG Code 2012 to have diff erent individuals 
appointed as the Chairman and the CEO. The Board is of the view that it is in the best interests of the Group 
to adopt a single leadership structure so as to ensure that the decision-making process of the Group would 
not be unnecessarily hindered as well as to ensure that the Group is able to grasp business opportunities 
effi  ciently and promptly. The Board also considered that there is already a strong independence element and 
Chairman of all Board Committees is independent, non-executive Directors.

3.3 Lead Independent Director

In compliance with Guideline 3.3 of the CG Code 2012, the Company has appointed Mr David Yeung as the 
Lead Independent Director of the Company. Mr David Yeung is available to shareholders where they have 
concerns and for which contact through the normal channels of the Chairman, the CEO or the Group Financial 
Controller has failed to resolve or is inappropriate.

3.4 Independent Director Meetings in Absence of Other Directors

From time to time, the Independent Directors discuss issues via meetings, telephone and electronic devices 
without presence of the other Directors where required. The Lead Independent Director will provide feedback 
to the Executive Chairman if it is deemed necessary.
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Board Membership 

Principle 4  There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-
appointment of directors to the Board. 

4.1 Nominating Committee

The Nominating Committee (“NC”) comprises the following fi ve (5) members, all of whom including the 
Chairman are Independent Directors: 

(i) Chia Chor Leong Independent Director (Chairman)

(ii) Yeung Koon Sang @ David Yeung Lead Independent Director (Member)

(iii) Chung Tang Fong Independent Director (Member)

(iv) Tan Jiansheng Independent Director (Member)

(v) Guo Weihai Independent Director (Member)

The NC is governed by the NC’s Terms of Reference which describes the duties and functions of the NC. The 
NC’s principal functions are as follows: 

(a) reviewing and recommending candidates for appointments to the Board and Board committees 
(excluding the appointment of existing members of the Board to a Board committee);

(b) reviewing and approving any new employment of related persons and proposed terms of their 
employment;

(c) reviewing and recommending candidates to be nominees on the boards and board committees of the 
listed companies and entities within the Company and its subsidiaries;

(d) re-nomination of directors for re-election of directors in accordance with the Constitution at each annual 
general meeting and having regard to the director’s contribution and performance (including alternate 
directors, if applicable);

(e) determining annually whether or not a director is independent;

(f) deciding whether or not a director of the Company is able to and has been adequately carrying out 
his duties and responsibilities, including time and eff ort contributed to the Company, attendance 
at meetings of the Board and Board Committees, participation at meetings and contributions of 
constructive, analytical, independent and well-considered views, and taking into consideration the 
director’s number of listed company board representations and other principal commitments;

(g) implementing a process for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its board 
committees and for assessing the contribution by the Chairman and each individual director to the 
eff ectiveness of the Board;

(h) decide how the Board’s performance may be evaluated and propose objective performance criteria, as 
approved by the Board that allows comparison with its industry peers, and address how the Board has 
enhanced long-term shareholder’s value;

(i) In addition to the relevant performance criteria which the Board may propose, other performance 
criteria that may be used include the Company’s share price performance over a fi ve-year period vis-à-vis 
the Singapore Straits Times Index and a benchmark index of its industry peers, return on assets, return 
on equity, return on investment, economic value added and profi tability on capital employed;
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(j) recommending to the Board the review of board succession plans for Directors, in particular, the 
Chairman and for the CEO;

(k) recommending the appointment of key management positions, reviewing succession plans for key 
positions within the Group and overseeing the development of key executives and talented executives 
within the Group; and

(l) reviewing and assessing from time to time whether any director or any person involved in the day-to-day 
management of the Group is related to, or is appointed pursuant to an agreement or arrangement with, 
a Controlling Shareholder and/or its Associates.

During FY2017, the NC held one (1) meeting and had on various occasions used resolutions in writing to 
resolve certain decisions which are then recommended to the Board.

4.2 & 4.6 Recommendations to the Board & Board Nomination Process

The Company has in place policies and procedures for the appointment of new Directors to the Board, 
including a search and nomination process. The NC reviews the need for appointment of additional director(s) 
and the composition of the Board, including the mix of expertise, skills and attributes of existing directors, so 
as to identify needed and/or desired competencies to supplement the Board’s existing attributes. 

The search for a suitable candidate is drawn from the network of contacts or approach relevant institutions 
such as the SID, professional organisations or business federations. Potential candidate is identifi ed based 
on the needs of relevant skills, experience, knowledge and expertise. Existing Directors may also put forward 
names of potential candidates, together with their curriculum vitae, for the NC’s consideration. The NC, 
after completing its assessment, meets with the short-listed candidate to assess their suitability taking into 
consideration the existing composition of the Board and strives to ensure that the Board has an appropriate 
balance of independent directors as well as qualifi cation and experience of each candidate, his/her ability 
to increase the eff ectiveness of the Board and to add value to the Group’s business in line with its strategic 
objectives and to ensure that the candidates are aware of the expectations and the level of commitment 
required of them. The NC makes recommendations to the Board for approval via Circular Resolutions or in 
board meeting. 

The NC recommends re-elections of Directors for approval by the Board, taking into account the Directors’ 
overall contributions and performance and an appropriate mix of core competencies for the Board to fulfi ll 
its roles and responsibilities. The Company’s Constitution require that one-third (1/3) of the Directors for the 
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third 
(1/3) with a minimum of one (1)) shall retire from offi  ce by rotation and that all Directors shall retire from offi  ce 
once every three (3) years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. Any person appointed by the 
Directors either to fi ll a casual vacancy or as an additional director during the year will hold offi  ce only until the 
next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) and will be eligible for re-election but shall not be taken into account in 
determining the number of directors retiring by rotation at such meeting. 

The NC has recommended to the Board that Madam Mai Shuying, Mr Pu Jinbo, Mr Chung Tang Fong and Mr 
Chia Chor Leong be nominated for re-election at the forthcoming AGM of the Company. In evaluating each 
Director’s contributions and performance for the purpose of re-nomination, the NC and the Board has 
considered the said Directors’ overall qualifi cation, experience, contributions, performance and other factors 
such as attendance, preparedness, participation, independence and candour are taken into consideration. 
The Board recommends the shareholders to approve the re-election of the said Directors. The details of the 
proposed resolutions are stipulated in the Notice of AGM.

The Board recognises the contributions of its Directors who over time have developed deep insight into the 
Group’s operations and industry and who are therefore able to provide valuable contributions to the Group. As 
such, the Board has not set a fi xed term of offi  ce for any of its Directors. 
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4.4 Multiple Board Representations

All Directors declare their board memberships as and when practicable. During FY2017, the NC has ascertained 
that all Directors, including those who have other listed company board representations and/or principal 
commitments, have devoted suffi  cient time and attention to the Group’s aff airs and have discharged their 
duties and responsibilities adequately. The NC takes into account the Directors’ actual conduct on the Board, 
in making this determination. As time requirements of each director are subjective, the NC has decided not 
to fi x a maximum limit on the number of directorships a director can hold. The NC considers that the multiple 
board representations held presently by its Directors do not impede their respective performance in carrying 
out their duties to the Company. The NC is also of the view that its assessment of a Director’s ability to devote 
suffi  cient time to the discharge of his or her duties should not entail a restriction on the number of other 
board commitments or their other principal commitments.

4.7 Directors’ Key information

The key information required under Guideline 4.7 of the CG Code 2012 is set out below: 

Director Date of Initial
Appointment as 

a Director

Date of Last
Re-election/

Re-appointment 
as a Director

Relationships 
including 

immediate family 
relationships 
between the 
directors, the 

Company 
and its 10% 

shareholders 

Directorships or Chairmanships in 
other listed companies

Current Past three years

Pan Shun Ming 30.12.2003 28.4.2017 Spouse to Mai 
Shuying and

Parent to Pan 
Zhaojin

Nil Nil

Chen Xiang Zhi 26.1.2010 29.4.2016 Nil Nil Nil

Pu Jinbo 16.4.2004 29.4.2016 Nil Nil Nil
Mai Shuying 30.12.2003 30.4.2015 Spouse to Pan 

Shun Ming and
Parent to Pan 

Zhaojin

Nil Nil

Li Yonghua 1.2.2011 28.4.2017 Nil Nil Nil
Yeung Koon 
Sang @ David 
Yeung

23.9.2004 28.4.2017   Nil  ACE Achieve 
Infocom Ltd

 AEI 
Corporation 
Limited

 Mary Chia 
Holdings 
Limited

 Citic 
Envirotech 
Ltd.

 CNA Group 
Ltd

 China Flexible 
Packaging 
Holdings 
Limited

Chung Tang 
Fong 

2.5.2014 30.4.2015 Nil  ACE Achieve 
Infocom Ltd

 Chewathai 
Ltd 

Nil
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Director Date of Initial
Appointment as 

a Director

Date of Last
Re-election/

Re-appointment 
as a Director

Relationships 
including 

immediate family 
relationships 
between the 
directors, the 

Company 
and its 10% 

shareholders 

Directorships or Chairmanships in 
other listed companies

Current Past three years

Chia Chor 
Leong

10.10.2014 30.4.2015 Nil  Frencken 
Group 
Limited

 Resource 
Holdings 
Limited

 Mary Chia 
Holdings 
Limited

Tan Jiansheng 27.2.2017 28.4.2017 Nil Nil Nil
Guo Weihai 27.2.2017 28.4.2017 Nil Nil Nil

The Company does not have alternative director.

The Board Committees that respective Director served on (as a member or chairman) during FY2017 are 
disclosed under Principles 4, 7 and 12 in this Report. Other key information regarding the Directors such as 
academic, professional qualifi cations, principal commitments, shareholdings in the Company and its related 
corporations is disclosed in the “Board of Directors”, “Directors’ Statement” and “Shareholders’ Information” 
sections in this Annual Report.

Board Performance

Principle 5  There should be a formal annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board 
as a whole and its board committees and the contribution by each director to the 
eff ectiveness of the Board.

5.1-5.3 Board and Individual Director Assessments

The NC has established and implemented processes for monitoring and evaluating the performance of the 
Board as a whole and eff ectiveness and contribution of individual directors.

The evaluation of the Board is conducted annually. The assessment covers areas such as Board Composition, 
Information to the Board, Board Procedures, Board Accountability, CEO/Top Management, Standards of 
Conduct, Risk Management and Internal Control and Communication with Shareholders. As part of the process, 
the Directors will complete appraisal forms which are collated by the Company Secretary. The Company 
Secretary will then consolidate and present the results of the appraisal to the Chairman of the NC who will 
then present a report to the Board.

An individual assessment of each Director is also undertaken annually. Assessment parameters for each 
Director include their knowledge and abilities, attendance records at the meetings of the Board and Board 
Committees, and the intensity and quality of participation at meetings. The process of the assessment is 
through self-assessment where each Director will complete appraisal forms which are collated by the Company 
Secretary. The Company Secretary consolidates the appraisal forms and presents the results to the Chairman 
of the NC who will then present a report to the Board. 
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The performance criteria do not change from year to year. Directors can also provide input on issues which 
do not fall under these categories, for instance, addressing specifi c areas where improvements can be 
made. Feedback and comments received from the Directors are reviewed by the NC, in consultation with 
the Chairman of the Board, to determine the actions required to improve the corporate governance of the 
Company and eff ectiveness of the Board as a whole. The Board is of the opinion that a separate assessment 
on the eff ectiveness of the Board Committees is not necessary as the Board Committees share common 
members.

The NC, having reviewed the overall performance of the Board in terms of its role and responsibilities and 
the conduct of its aff airs as a whole for the fi nancial year reported on, is of the view that the performance of 
the Board as a whole has been satisfactory. The NC, in assessing the contribution of an individual Director, 
has considered each Director’s level of participation and attendance at Board and Board Committee meetings, 
his or her qualifi cations, experience, expertise and the time and eff ort dedicated to the Group’s business and 
aff airs. The NC is satisfi ed that suffi  cient time and attention has been given to the Group by the Directors. 
The NC is also satisfi ed that the current size and composition of the Board provides it with adequate ability to 
meet the existing scope of needs and the nature of operations of the Group. From time to time, the NC will 
review the appropriateness of the Board size, taking into consideration changes in the nature of the Group’s 
businesses, the scope of operations, as well as changing regulatory requirements.

Each member of the NC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of the assessment of his 
performance for re-nomination as Director.

Access to Information

Principle 6  In order to fulfi l their responsibilities, directors should be provided with complete, 
adequate and timely information prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis 
so as to enable them to make informed decisions to discharge their duties and 
responsibilities.

6.1 & 6.2 Provision of Information to the Board

The Board has separate and independent access to senior management, the Group’s records and the Company 
Secretary at all times to enable them in carrying out their duties. Requests for information from the Board are 
dealt promptly by Management. The Board is informed of all material events and transactions as and when 
they occur. 

Management provides the Board with information and explanations (briefi ng, circulation via email or by 
presentation at meeting) on the half-year and full-year fi nancial results, progress reports of the Group’s 
operations, corporate development, regulatory updates, market and business developments and audit reports. 
Management is invited to attend Board meetings to provide additional insights into matters being discussed, 
and to respond to any queries that the Directors may have. Management also seek consultation from the 
Board regularly whenever necessary and appropriate. 

The Board is issued with meeting agenda and board papers timely and prior to Board meetings. This is to 
give the Directors suffi  cient time to review and consider the matters being tabled and/or discussed. Any other 
matters may also be tabled at the Board meeting and discussed without papers being distributed.

6.3 & 6.4 Company Secretary

The Company Secretary or his representative is always present at all Board and Board Committee meetings 
to administer, record the proceedings, and together with Management of the Company, assists the Chairman 
in ensuring that Board procedures are followed and reviewed so that the Board functions eff ectively and the 
Company’s Constitution, Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, Companies Act (Chapter 50) and other relevant rules 
and regulations that are applicable to the Company and the Group are complied with. The appointment and 
removal of the company secretary is a matter for consideration by the Board as a whole.
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6.5 Independent Professional Advice

The Board in fulfi lling its responsibilities, can as a group or individually, when deemed fi t, direct the Company 
to appoint an independent professional adviser to render professional advice. 
 

REMUNERATION MATTERS 

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 7  There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on 
executive remuneration and for fi xing remuneration packages of individual directors. 
No director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

7.1 & 7.2 Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprises the following fi ve (5) members, all of whom including the 
Chairman of the RC are Independent Directors:-

(i) Yeung Koon Sang @ David Yeung Lead Independent Director (Chairman)

(ii) Chung Tang Fong Independent Director  (Member)

(iii) Chia Chor Leong Independent Director (Member)

(iv) Tan Jiansheng Independent Director (Member)

(v) Guo Weihai Independent Director (Member)

The RC is governed by the RC’s Terms of Reference which describes the duties and the powers of the RC. The 
functions of the RC are:- 

(a) review and approve the policy for determining the remuneration of the executives of the Group, 
including that of the executive director, chief executive offi  cer and other key management personnel;

(b) review the on-going appropriateness and relevance of the executive remuneration policy and 
other benefi t programs including the terms of renewal for those executive directors whose current 
employment contracts will expire or had expired;

(c) consider, review and approve and/or vary (if necessary) the entire specifi c remuneration package and 
service contract terms for each member of key management (including salaries, allowances, bonuses, 
payments, options, benefi ts in kind, retirement rights, severance packages and service contracts) having 
regard to the executive remuneration policy for each of the companies within our Group;

(d) review the Company’s obligations arising in the event of termination of the executive directors’ and key 
management personnel’s contracts of service, to ensure that such contracts of service contain fair and 
reasonable termination clauses which are not overly generous;

(e) consider and approve termination payments, retirement payments, gratuities, ex-gratia payments, 
severance payments and other similar payments to each member of key management personnel; 

(f) seek expert advice inside the company and/or outside professional advice on remuneration of all 
directors and to ensure that existing relationships, if any, between the company and its appointed 
consultants will not aff ect the independence and objectivity of the consultants;
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(g) determine, review and approve the design of all option plans, stock plans and/or other equity based 
plans that the Group proposes to implement, to determine each year whether awards will be made 
under such plans, to review and approve each award as well as the total proposed awards under each 
plan in accordance with the rules governing each plan and to review, approve and keep under review 
performance hurdles and/or fulfi llment of performance hurdles under such plans;

(h) approve the remuneration framework (including directors’ fees) for the non-executive directors on the 
relevant boards of directors within the Group;

(i) review the remuneration of employees who are related to the Directors and substantial shareholders 
to ensure that their remuneration packages are in line with the staff  remuneration guideline and 
commensurate with their respective job scopes and level of responsibilities; and

(j) No director shall participate in decision on his/her own remuneration.

The RC’s recommendations are made in consultation with the Chairman of the Board and submitted to the 
entire Board for endorsement.

In its review, the RC’s objective is to establish and maintain a level of remuneration that would be appropriate 
to attract, retain and motivate the Directors and key management personnel to run the Group successfully. The 
RC also ensures that the remuneration policies and systems of the Group support the Group’s objectives and 
strategies.

The RC will review the Company’s obligations arising in the event of termination of the executive directors 
and key management personnel’s contracts of service, to ensure that such contracts of service contain fair 
and reasonable termination clauses which are not overly generous and to be fair and avoid rewarding poor 
performance.

There is no other termination, retirement and post-employment benefi ts granted to the Directors, the CEO or 
any key management personnel.

7.3 Remuneration Consultant

The RC may from time to time, where necessary or required, seek expect advice internal or external 
consultants in framing the remuneration policy and determining the level and mix of remuneration for the 
Directors and key management personnel, so that the Group remains competitive in this respect. During 
FY2017, the Company did not engage any external remuneration consultant.

Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 8  The level and structure of remuneration should be aligned with the long-term 
interest and risk policies of the company, and should be appropriate to attract, 
retain and motivate (a) the directors to provide good stewardship of the company, 
and (b) key management personnel to successfully manage the company. However, 
companies should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose.

8.1 & 8.3 Remuneration Structure

The RC reviews and recommends to the Board a framework of remuneration for the directors and key 
management personnel, and determines specifi c remuneration packages for each executive director. The 
recommendations of the RC on remuneration of executive directors would be submitted for endorsement by 
the entire Board. The Company adopts a remuneration policy for staff  consisting of a fi xed component and a 
variable component. The fi xed component is in the form of a base / fi xed salary. The variable component is in 
the form of a variable bonus that is linked to the Company and individual performance.
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All aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options 
and benefi ts in kind are covered by the RC. Each member of the RC shall abstain from voting on any resolution 
in respect of his remuneration package.

In setting/reviewing the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and key management personnel, 
the Company takes into consideration the existing remuneration and employment conditions and makes a 
comparative study of the packages of executive directors and key management personnel within the industry 
and benchmarked against comparable companies/industries as well as the individual and the Group’s relative 
performance. No Director is involved in the discussion and in deciding his own remuneration.

The RC ensures that the level and structure of remuneration of the Executive Directors and key management 
personnel are aligned with the long-term interests and risk policies of the Company, as well as the ability 
of such remuneration structures to attract, retain and motivate Executive Directors and key management 
personnel to provide good stewardship and management of the Company.

The service agreements with respective Executive Directors and key management personnel are renewable in 
accordance with the specifi c terms as set out in the service agreements. Any revision or amendments to the 
service agreements will be fi rstly proposed to the RC and thereafter, on RC’s recommendation to the Board for 
consideration and approval.

The Non-Executive Directors are paid a fi xed base fee and an additional fi xed fee for serving on any of the 
Board Committees.

The Chairman of each Board Committee is compensated for his additional responsibilities. The RC 
recommends the payment of such fees in accordance with the contributions and responsibilities of the Non-
Executive Directors, which will then be endorsed by the Board and subject to approval by the shareholders of 
the Company at the AGM. The Company recognises the need to pay competitive fees to attract, motivate and 
retain Directors without being excessive to the extent that their independence might be compromised.

8.4 Contractual provisions

The Company does not make use of contractual provisions to allow the Company to reclaim incentive 
components of remuneration from Executive Directors and key management personnel in exceptional 
circumstances of misstatement of fi nancial results, or of misconduct resulting in fi nancial loss to the Company.

Having reviewed and considered the variable components of the Executive Directors and the key management 
personnel, which are moderate, the RC is of the view that there is no requirement to institute contractual 
provisions to allow the Company to reclaim incentive components of their remuneration paid in prior years in 
exceptional circumstances of misstatement of fi nancial results, or of misconduct resulting in fi nancial loss.

In addition, the Executive Directors owe a fi duciary duty to the Company. The Company should be able to avail 
itself to remedies against the Executive Directors in the event of such breach of fi duciary duties.

Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 9  Every company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policies, level and 
mix of remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s 
Annual Report. It should provide disclosure in relation to its remuneration policies to 
enable investors to understand the link between remuneration paid to directors and 
key management personnel, and performance.
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9.1 & 9.2 Directors’ Remuneration

The Company adopts a remuneration policy for staff  that is responsive to market elements and performance of 
the Group and business segments respectively. 

The breakdown (in the percentage terms) of the level and mix of Directors’ remuneration for FY2017 are as 
follows: 

Name
Salary

%
Bonus

%

Fringe 
Benefi ts

%

Directors’ 
Fees

%
Total

%
Directors
S$250,000 to below S$500,000
Pan Shun Ming 94.7 3.5 1.8 – 100%
Mai Shuying 94.7 3.4 1.9 – 100%
Below S$250,000
Chen Xiang Zhi 82.6 15.4 2.0 – 100%
Pu Jinbo 78.7 13.9 7.4 – 100%
Li Yonghua 71.3 28.0 0.7 – 100%
Pan Zhaojin1 75.6 14.5 9.9 – 100%
Yeung Koon Sang @ David Yeung – – – 100% 100%
Chung Tang Fong – – – 100% 100%
Chia Chor Leong – – – 100% 100%
Tan Jiansheng2 – – – 100% 100%
Guo Weihai2 – – – 100% 100%

1 Mr Pan Zhaojin resigned as Executive Director on 27 February 2017.
2 Mr Tan Jiansheng and Mr Guo Weihai were appointed as Independent Directors on 27 February 2017.

The Company does not disclose the remuneration of each individual director and the top fi ve (5) key 
management personnel to the nearest thousand dollars in accordance with the Principle 9.2 and 9.3 of the CG 
Code 2012 as the Board of Directors believes that it is not in the best interests of the Group’s business to fully 
disclose such information given the highly competitive plastic packaging industry in the People’s Republic of 
China. 

9.3 Key Management Personnel’s Remuneration

A breakdown of the level and mix of top four (4) key management personnel’s remuneration for FY2017 are as 
follows:

Name
Salary

%
Bonus

%

Fringe 
Benefi ts

%
Total

%
Key Management Personnel
Below S$250,000
Pan Zhaojin1 75.6 14.5 9.9 100%
Guo Wei2 85.2 7.3 7.5 100%
Zhang Jianling 82.9 17.1 – 100%
Lao Jing Wen 84.2 15.8 – 100%

1 Mr Pan Zhaojin was appointed as Deputy Chief Operating Offi  cer on 27 February 2017.
2 Mr Guo Wei retired as the Vice President (Production and Research & Development) on 31 December 2017.
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The Company only have top four (4) key management personnel during FY2017, the annual aggregate 
remuneration paid to the key management personnel (excluding the director and the CEO) for FY2017 is 
S$450,391.36.

9.4 Employees who are immediate family members of a Director or the CEO

During FY2017, there are two (2) employees who have family relationship with a director or CEO, whose 
remuneration exceeds S$50,000/-, details relating thereto are appended below: 

Name Remuneration Band
Pan Zhaojin
(son of Mr Pan Shun Ming and Madam Mai Shuying)

S$100,000 to below S$200,000

Ang Wei Jun 
(son in law of Mr Pan Shun Ming and Madam Mai Shuying)

S$100,000 to below S$200,000

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Accountability

Principle 10  The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the 
Company’s performance, position and prospects.

10.1-10.3 Balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospect

In presenting the annual fi nancial statements and half yearly results announcements to shareholders, it is the 
aim of the Board to provide the shareholders with a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s 
performance, fi nancial position and business prospects. The annual budgets, including any material variances 
between the projections and actual results are disclosed and explained to the Board by Management via email 
or during the Board meetings. 

Management provides the Board with a periodic updates/information covering operational performance, 
fi nancial results and summary of business development eff orts as well as other important and relevant 
information as the Board may require from time to time, to enable the Board to monitor and make a balanced 
and informed assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects. 

The Board is primarily responsible to present a fair and balanced report of the fi nancial aff airs of the Group, 
which is prepared in accordance with the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, the Companies Act (Chapter 50) and the 
Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore prescribed by the Accounting and Standards Council.

The fi nancial performance and annual reports are announced or issued within the mandatory period under the 
Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and are available on the Company’s website. The Board also provides negative 
assurance confi rmation to shareholders for the half-yearly fi nancial results announcements pursuant to Listing 
Manual of the SGX-ST. 

Other ways in which information is disseminated to shareholders are further disclosed under Principles 14, 15 
and 16 of this Report. 
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Risk Management and Internal Controls

Principle 11  The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board should ensure that 
Management maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls to 
safeguard shareholders’ interests and the company’s assets, and should determine 
the nature and extent of the signifi cant risks which the Board is willing to take in 
achieving its strategic objectives.

11.1 Risk Management and Internal Controls
11.2 & 11.3 Adequacy and eff ectiveness of the Internal Controls

The Board recognises that no internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities. The Board 
ensures that the Management maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls to 
safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets, and determine the nature and extent of the 
signifi cant risks which the Board is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives. 

The AC and the Board is responsible to ensure that a review of the adequacy and eff ectiveness of the 
Company’s internal controls, including fi nancial, operational, compliance and information technology controls 
and risk management, is conducted annually. In this respect, the AC will review the audit plans, and the 
fi ndings of the internal audit team and external auditors and report its opinion to the Board, and will ensure 
that the Company follows up on the auditors’ recommendations raised, if any, during the audit process. The 
Company will continue to make eff orts in improving its risk management and internal control systems.

Management reviews the Group’s business and operational activities regularly to identify areas of signifi cant 
risks as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks. Management will also be responsible 
for ensuring that the risk management framework is eff ectively implemented within all areas of the respective 
operations and to highlight signifi cant matters to the AC.

The Board had received assurance from the CEO and Group Financial Controller that the Group’s fi nancial 
records as at 31 December 2017 have been properly maintained and the fi nancial statements for FY2017 give a 
true and fair view of the Company’s operations and fi nances, and the Company’s risk management and internal 
control systems are eff ective.

Based on the work performed by the internal and external auditors, the Group’s framework of management 
control, the review procedures established and maintained by the Company to monitor the key controls and 
procedures and to ensure their eff ectiveness, the annual reviews performed by Management and the Board 
committees, the Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is of the view that for the current size and nature of 
the Group’s operations and business, the Group’s framework of internal controls in relation to the fi nancial, 
operational, compliance and information technology controls and risk management system is adequate to 
provide reasonable assurance of the integrity and eff ectiveness of the Company in safeguarding its assets and 
shareholders’ value.
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Audit Committee

Principle 12  The Board should establish an Audit Committee (“AC”) with written terms of 
reference which clearly set out its authority and duties.

12.1, 12.2 & 12.4 Audit Committee

The AC comprises the following fi ve (5) members, all of whom, including the Chairman of the AC, are 
Independent Directors:- 

(i) Yeung Koon Sang @ David Yeung Lead Independent Director  (Chairman)

(ii) Chung Tang Fong Independent Director (Member)

(iii) Chia Chor Leong Independent Director (Member)

(iv) Tan Jiansheng Independent Director (Member)

(v) Guo Weihai Independent Director (Member)

None of the AC members were previous partners or directors of the Company’s existing auditing fi rm or hold 
any fi nancial interest in the auditing fi rm. The Board is satisfi ed and in its business judgement viewed that 
the AC’s composition and members are appropriately qualifi ed to discharge their duties and responsibilities. 
Majority of the AC have many years of experience in accounting and related fi nancial management given their 
experience as directors and/or senior management in accounting and fi nancial fi elds as the Board interprets 
such qualifi cation in its business judgment.

The AC is governed by the AC’s Terms of Reference which describes the duties and the powers of the AC. The 
functions of the AC are as follows: 

(a) assist the Board in the discharge of its responsibilities on fi nancial reporting matters;

(b) review, with the internal and external auditors, the audit plans, scope of work, their evaluation of the 
system of internal accounting controls, the management letters and the management’s response, and 
results of audits complied by the internal and external auditors;

(c) review the half-yearly and annual fi nancial statements and results announcements before submission 
to the Board for approval, focusing in particular, on changes in accounting policies and practices, major 
risks areas, signifi cant adjustments resulting from the audit, the going concern statement, compliance 
with fi nancial reporting standards as well as compliance with the Listing Manual and any other statutory/
regulatory requirements;

(d) review the eff ectiveness and adequacy of the internal control and procedures, including accounting and 
fi nancial controls and procedures and ensure coordination between the internal and external auditors, 
and the management, reviewing the assistance given by the management to the auditors, and discuss 
problems and concern, if any, arising from interim and fi nal audits, and any matters which the auditors 
may wish to discuss in the absence of the management where necessary;

(e) review the adequacy and eff ectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function and the scope and results 
of the external audits as well as the independence and objectivity of the external auditors;

(f) commission and review an annual internal control audit until such time the AC is satisfi ed that the 
Group’s internal controls are suffi  ciently robust and eff ective enough to mitigate the Group’s internal 
control weaknesses (if any), and prior to the decommissioning of the annual audit, the Board is required 
to report to the SGX-ST on how the key internal control weaknesses have been rectifi ed, and the basis 
for the decision to decommission the annual internal controls audit;
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(g) review with external auditors the impact of any new or proposed changes in accounting policies or 
regulatory requirements on the fi nancial statements of our Group;

(h) review the co-operation given by the management to the external auditors;

(i) to meet with the External and Internal Auditors without the presence of the Management at least once a 
year;

(j) review the performance of Financial Controller on an annual basis to ensure satisfactory performance;

(k) review and discuss with the external auditors any suspected fraud or irregularity, or suspected 
infringement of any relevant laws, rules or regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact 
on the Group’s operating results or fi nancial position, and the management’s response and report such 
matters to the Board at an appropriate time;

(l) take recommendations to the Board on the proposals to the Shareholders on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditors, and approving the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external auditors;

(m) review significant financial reporting issues and judgments with the Financial Controller and the 
external auditors so as to ensure the integrity of the fi nancial statements of our Group and any formal 
announcements relating to the Group’s fi nancial performance before submission to the Board of 
Directors;

(n) review and report to the Board at least annually the adequacy and eff ectiveness of the Group’s material 
internal controls with the Financial Controller and the internal and external auditors, including fi nancial, 
operation, compliance and information technology controls via reviews carried out by the internal 
auditors;

(o) review fi lings with the SGX-ST or other regulatory bodies which contain the Group’s fi nancial statements 
and ensure proper disclosure;

(p) review and approve transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 9 and Chapter 10 of the Listing 
Manual (if any);

(q) review interested person transactions and any potential confl icts of interests (if any). In particular, the 
AC will review and assess from time to time whether additional processes are required to be put in place 
to manage any material confl icts of interest between the Group and the Directors, CEO, Controlling 
Shareholders and/or their respective Associates and propose, where appropriate, the relevant measures 
for the management of such confl icts;

(r) review and approve all hedging policies and instruments (if any) to be implemented by the Group;

(s) undertake such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board and report to the Board 
its fi ndings from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the Audit Committee;

(t) review and establish procedures for receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the 
Group;

(u) propose and establish a “Whistle-blowing policy” and review the procedures by which employees of 
the Group may, in confi dence, report to the chairman of the AC, possible improprieties in matters of 
fi nancial reporting or other matters and ensure that there are arrangements in place for independent 
investigation and follow-up actions thereto;
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(v) report to the Board of the Company the work performed by the AC in carrying out its functions; and

(w) to undertake such other functions and duties as may be required by statue or the Listing Manual, and by 
such amendments made thereto from time to time.

The AC and the Board of Directors, with the assistance of internal and external auditors, reviews the adequacy 
and eff ectiveness of the key internal controls, including fi nancial, operational, compliance, information 
technology controls and risk management systems on an on-going basis. There are formal procedures in place 
for both the internal and external auditors to report independently their fi ndings and recommendations to the 
AC.

By briefi ngs given by the External Auditors, the AC and Management are always kept abreast of changes to 
accounting standards and issues which have a direct impact on the Group’s fi nancial statements. The AC 
will also attend trainings conducted by professionals or external consultants regarding the new accounting 
standards as and when such need arises. 

12.3 & 12.5 Authority of AC and meeting with auditors

The AC has the power to conduct or authorize investigations into any matters within the AC’s scope of 
responsibility, such as where there is any suspected fraud or irregularity, or failure of internal controls 
or infringement of any law, rule or regulation which has or likely to have a material impact on the Group’s 
operating results and/or fi nancial position. The AC is authorized to obtain independent professional advice if 
it deems necessary in the discharge of its responsibilities. Such expenses are to be borne by the Company. 
The AC has full access to and co-operation of the Company’s Management and has full discretion to invite any 
Director or executive offi  cer to attend its meetings, and has been given reasonable resources to enable it to 
discharge its functions. The AC has met with the external auditors and internal auditors without presence of 
Management at least once a year to ascertain if there are any material weaknesses or control defi ciencies in 
the Group’s fi nancial and operating systems. 

Each member of the AC will abstain from voting in respect of matters in which he is interested.

12.6 Independence of External Auditors

The aggregate amount of fees paid and/or payable by the Group to the external auditors for FY2017 is 
RMB471,052, of which audit fees amounted to approximately RMB456,403 and non-audit fees amounted to 
approximately RMB14,649. 

The AC has reviewed the independence of the external auditors including the range and volume and nature 
of the non-audit services performed by its external auditors and being satisfi ed that the nature and extent 
of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. The AC has 
recommended the re-appointment of Messrs BDO LLP as external auditors of the Company for fi nancial year 
ending 31 December 2018 at the forthcoming AGM.

The external auditors have unrestricted access to the AC. 

In relation to the external auditors of the Group, the AC is satisfi ed that the Company has complied with the 
Rules 712 and 715 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST.

12.7 Whistle-Blowing Policy

The Company has in place a whistle-blowing policy which provides well-defi ned and accessible channels in 
the Group through which employees and any other persons may raise concerns, in confi dence, on improper 
conduct or other matters to Management and/or the AC, where applicable. The details of the policy have 
been disseminated and made available to all parties concerned, including new employees. The AC would be 
vested with the power and authority to receive, investigate and enforce appropriate action when any such non-
compliance matter is brought to its attention.
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12.8 AC Activities

In line with the terms of reference of the AC, the following activities were carried out by the AC during FY2017 
in the discharge of its functions and duties including the deliberation and review of:

(a) the internal and external audit plans in terms of their scope prior to their commencement;  

(b) the unaudited half-yearly and full year fi nancial results of the Group, and announcements prior to 
submission to the Board for approval and release of the results via SGXNet; 

(c) the audited fi nancial statements of the Group and the Company prior to submission to the Board for 
consideration and approval;

(d) the internal audit fi ndings report including internal control processes and procedures;

(e) the adequacy and eff ectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function; 

(f) the adequacy and eff ectiveness of the Company’s internal controls, including fi nancial, operational, 
compliance and information technology controls and reporting the fi ndings to the Board;

(g) interested person transactions and any potential confl icts of interests;

(h) the co-operation and assistance given by Management to the Group’s external and internal auditors; 

(i) the independence and re-appointment of the external auditors of the Company and level of audit and 
non-audit fees, and their recommendation to the Board for approval;

(j) whistle-blowing policy of the Group and procedures by which employees of the Group and any other 
parties could report the possible improprieties to the AC Chairman. 

AC’s commentary on KAMs

In the review of the fi nancial statements for FY2017, the AC has discussed with the Management and the 
external auditors on signifi cant issues as well as the reasonableness of the key assumptions including 
signifi cant judgements and key estimates used that impact the fi nancial statements. The most signifi cant 
matter has also been included in the Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members under “Key Audit Matters”. 
Taking into account all instances the views of the external auditors, the AC is assured and concurred with the 
Management’s conclusions and satisfi ed that this matter has been properly dealt with; and concluded that the 
Group’s accounting treatment and the disclosures in the fi nancial statements were appropriate. The AC has 
recommended the Board to approve the fi nancial statements. 

Internal Audit

Principle 13  The Company should establish an eff ective internal audit function that is adequately 
resourced and independent of the activities it audits.

13.1-13.5 Internal Audit

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining an internal audit function, independent of the activities 
it audits. The objective of the internal audit function is to determine whether the Group’s risk management, 
control and governance processes, as designed by the Company, is adequate and functioning in the required 
manner. 

The internal audit function of the Group is outsourced to Da Xin LLP. The internal auditors are expected to 
meet or exceed the standards set by nationally or internationally recognised professional bodies including the 
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of Internal Auditors. 

The internal auditors have unrestricted access to all the Company’s documents, records, properties and 
personnel, and reports directly to the AC on audit matters. The AC will also meet with the internal auditors at 
least once a year without the presence of Management. 
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The internal auditors will conduct its audit reviews based on the approved internal audit plan. The internal 
audit report detailing audit fi ndings and recommendations provided to Management and their responses. 
Such report will then be submitted to the AC. Any material non-compliance or lapses in the internal controls 
together with the corrective measures taken up by Management are highlighted to the AC. The AC would 
monitor the timely and proper implementation of such corrective measures and will follow up on the required 
corrective, preventive or improvement measures undertaken or to be undertaken by Management.

The AC will review the adequacy and eff ectiveness of the internal audit function annually with the Internal 
Auditors and ensures that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing 
within the Company. For FY2017, the AC had reviewed and is satisfi ed that the internal audit function is 
eff ective, adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Group to fulfi l its mandate.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Shareholder Rights

Principle 14  Companies should treat all shareholders fairly and equitably, and should recognise, 
protect and facilitate the exercise of shareholders’ rights, and continually review and 
update such governance arrangements.

14.1 & 14.3 Shareholder Rights

The Company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably, and recognise, protect and facilitate the exercise 
of shareholders’ right and continually review and update such governance arrangement. In this regard, care 
is taken to ensure that no market sensitive information such as corporate proposals, fi nancial results and 
other material information is disseminated to any party without fi rst making an offi  cial announcement through 
SGXNet. 

The Directors ensure that the shareholders have the opportunity to participate eff ectively in and vote at 
general meetings and shareholders will be well informed of the meeting and voting procedures.

Any notice of general meeting consisting of only ordinary resolution is issued at least fourteen (14) calendar 
days before the scheduled date of such meeting. All shareholders can vote in person or to appoint up to two 
(2) proxies during his absence to attend, vote and speak in general meeting in accordance with the Constitution 
of the Company. Pursuant to Section 181 of the Companies Act (Chapter 50), notwithstanding the Constitution 
of the Company, the Company allows and will provide necessary measures to allow corporations which provide 
nominee or custodial services to appoint more than two (2) proxies so that shareholders who hold shares 
through such corporations can attend and participate in general meetings as proxies. 

Communication with Shareholders

Principle 15  Companies should actively engage their shareholders and put in place an investor 
relations policy to promote regular, effective and fair communication with 
shareholders.

15.2-15.4 Communication with Shareholders

The Company has put in place a comprehensive investor relations policy to facilitate fair and eff ective 
communication with shareholders. The Company conveys pertinent information to shareholders and 
complies with the guidelines set out in the Listing Manual when disclosing information. All questions raised by 
shareholders would be escalated to and addressed by the Senior Management or relevant person-in-charge. 

The Group strives for timeliness and transparency in its disclosures to the shareholders and the public. In 
addition to the regular dissemination of information on major developments through SGXNet, the Company 
also responds to enquiries from investors, analysts, fund managers and the press. The Company does not 
practise selective disclosure and price-sensitive information is publicly released through SGXNet on an 
immediate basis pursuant to the Listing Manual.
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Information is disseminated to shareholders on a timely basis through various means of communication such 
as:

 announcements and press releases via SGXNet;

 price sensitive information, signifi cant transactions or matters are communicated to shareholders via 
SGXNet; 

 Annual Reports and notice of general meetings issued to all shareholders; and

 the Company’s website at www.southern-packaging.com at which shareholders can access to 
information on the Group.

15.5 Dividend Policy
 
The Company currently does not have a fi xed dividend policy. Nonetheless, the Management after reviewing 
the performance of the Company in the relevant fi nancial period will make appropriate recommendation to the 
Board. Any dividend recommendation or declaration will be communicated to shareholders via announcement 
through SGXNet.

The form, frequency and amount of declaration and payment of future dividends on shares of the Company 
that the Directors may recommend or declare in respect of any particular fi nancial year or period will be 
subject to the factors outlined below as well as other factors deemed relevant by the Directors:

 the level of cash and retained earnings;

 actual and projected fi nancial performance;

 projected levels of capital expenditure and expansion plans;

 working capital requirements and general fi nancing needs and conditions; and

 restrictions on payment of dividend imposed to the Company (if any).

The Board has recommended a fi rst and fi nal tax-exempt (one-tier) dividend of S$0.0036 per ordinary share for 
FY2017 for the shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM. 

Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

Principle 16  Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at general meetings 
of shareholders, and allow shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views 
on various matters aff ecting the company.

16.1-16.5 Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

The Company’s general meetings are the principal forums for dialogue with shareholders. 

The Board supports and encourages shareholders to participate actively in general meetings. At general 
meetings of the Company, shareholders are given equitably opportunity to participate eff ectively in and 
vote at the meeting and express their views/concerns and ask questions regarding the Group’s business or 
performance. Notice of general meetings will be advertised in newspapers and announced on SGXNET.

The Company has not amended its Constitution to provide for absentia voting methods. Voting in absentia and 
by electronic mail may only be possible following careful study to ensure that integrity of the information and 
authentication of the identity of the shareholders through the web is not compromised. 



36

Corporate Governance Report

The Company Secretary prepares minutes of general meeting that include substantial and relevant comments 
or queries relating to the agenda of the meetings; and responses from the Board and Management. The 
minutes of general meetings, subsequently approved by the Board, are available to shareholders during offi  ce 
hours upon their requests.  

The chairpersons of the Audit, Nominating and Remuneration Committees and majority of the Directors are 
normally present and available to address shareholders’ questions at general meetings. The external auditors 
are also present to address shareholders’ queries relating to the conduct of the audit and the preparation and 
content of the auditors’ report. 

The Company allows a member entitled to attend and vote to appoint not more than two (2) proxies who need 
not be a member of the Company, to attend and vote at the general meetings, in accordance with Section 181 
of the Companies Act (Chapter 50) and Articles 65 to 75 of the Company’s Constitution.

At AGMs, the Directors ensure that separate resolutions are set out on distinct issues for approval by 
shareholders. Pursuant to Rule 730A of the Listing Manual, all proposed resolutions at the Company’s general 
meetings will be conducted by way of poll in the presence of independent scrutineers. The explanation on 
polling procedures will be provided to shareholders before the poll voting is conducted. The total number and 
percentage of valid votes cast for or against each resolution will be announced at the general meeting and also 
published via SGXNet after the general meeting. 

DEALING IN SECURITIES 

In line with Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Manual on dealings in securities, the Company has adopted a policy 
prohibiting share dealings in its securities by directors and offi  cers of the Group: (i) during the period 
commencing one (1) month before the announcement of the Company’s half/full year fi nancial statements 
and ending on the date of the announcement of the relevant fi nancial statements; and (ii) any time when in 
possession of unpublished price-sensitive information relating to the Group. They are prohibited from dealing 
in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations. This has been made known to Directors and offi  cers 
of the Group. They are also reminded to observe the insider trading laws at all times even when dealing in the 
Company’s securities within permitted trading periods. 

Directors are required to notify the Company of their securities dealings within two (2) business days of such 
dealings and the Company shall disseminate the notifi cations received to the market via SGXNet within one (1) 
business day of receiving such notifi cations. 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save for the service agreements entered into between the Executive Directors and the Company and the 
contracts which have been published via SGXNet, there are no other material contracts or loans entered 
into by or taken up by the Company of its subsidiaries involving the interest of any Director or controlling 
shareholder which are still subsisting as at the end of FY2017 or if not then subsisting, entered into since the 
end of previous fi nancial year. 

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS (“IPTs”)

The Company has established review procedures for IPTs and the reviews to be made periodically by the AC in 
relation thereto are adequate to ensure that the IPTs will be transacted on normal commercial terms and will 
not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority shareholders. In the event that a member of 
the AC is involved in any IPT, he will abstain from reviewing that particular transaction.  
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The IPTs of the Group during FY2017 are:- 

Name of interested person

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions during the 
fi nancial year under review 

(excluding transactions less than 
S$100,000 and transactions 

conducted under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to Rule 920)

FY2017

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions conducted 
under shareholders’ mandate 

pursuant to Rule 920 (excluding 
transactions less than S$100,000)

FY2017
Guangdong Xing Hua Health Drink 
Co. Ltd(1)

RMB1,293,036 
(S$263,718) –

Mai Shuying, Pan Shun Ming(2) RMB664,820 
(S$135,592)

–

Foshan Unibott Technology 
Limited(3)

RMB5,992,860 
(S$1,222,259)

–

(1) Rental payment for factory occupied by Foshan Southern Packaging Co., Ltd. 
(2) Rental payment for offi  ce occupied by Southern (HK) Packaging Company Limited. 
(3) Supply of products by Foshan Southern Packaging Co., Ltd.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

The Company has always fostered a socially responsible corporate culture amongst its management and staff . 
Our management team and employees are our assets. We recognise that the success of our Group is due in 
great part to our dedicated and passionate team of employees working together to deliver high-quality services 
to our customers. Therefore, we take great care of employees by proving them a safe and healthy work 
premises and off er them opportunities to continually enhance and develop their core skills and knowledge 
base. In addition to this, we also provide classroom training and product knowledge, safety and product 
handling, new market trends and technologies so that our staff  stays up-to-date with the latest developments 
and trends within the industry. New employees will also be provides mandatory orientation programmes to 
familiaries them with the Group’s corporate identity, policy and standard operation practise.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING

The Company intends to publish its Sustainability Report, which is aligned to Rules 711A and 711B of the 
SGX-ST Listing Manual, by December 2018. The Sustainability Report will be publicly accessible through the 
Company’s offi  cial website as well as on SGX-NET.



38

Directors’ Statement

The Directors of Southern Packaging Group Limited (the “Company”) present their statement to the members 
together with the audited fi nancial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the 
fi nancial year ended 31 December 2017 and the statement of fi nancial position of the Company as at 31 
December 2017 and the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the fi nancial year then ended.

1. Opinion of the Directors

 In the opinion of the Board of Directors,

 (a) the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the statement of fi nancial position and 
statement of changes in equity of the Company together with the notes thereon are properly 
drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the 
“Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore so as to give a true and fair view of the 
fi nancial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2017, and of the fi nancial 
performance, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group and changes in equity of the 
Company for the fi nancial year ended on that date; and

 (b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be 
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

2. Directors

 The Directors of the Company in offi  ce at the date of this statement are as follows:

 Pan Shun Ming
 Chen Xiang Zhi
 Pu Jinbo
 Mai Shuying
 Li Yonghua
 Yeung Koon Sang @ David Yeung
 Chung Tang Fong
 Chia Chor Leong
 Tan Jiansheng
 Guo Weihai

3. Arrangements to enable Directors to acquire shares or debentures

 Neither at the end of nor at any time during the fi nancial year was the Company a party to any 
arrangement whose object is to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefi ts by means of 
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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4. Directors’ interests in shares or debentures

 According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company for the purposes of the Act, 
none of the Directors of the Company holding offi  ce at the end of the fi nancial year had any interests in 
the shares or debentures of the Company and its related corporations except as detailed below:

Shareholdings registered
in name of Director

Shareholdings in which 
Director 

is deemed to have an 
interest

Balance as at 
1.1.2017

Balance as at 
31.12.2017

Balance as at 
1.1.2017

Balance as at 
31.12.2017

Number of ordinary shares

Company
Pan Shun Ming (1) 27,384,697 27,384,697 13,739,015 13,739,015
Mai Shuying (1) 13,739,015 13,739,015 27,384,697 27,384,697
Pu Jinbo (2) 182,954 182,954 2,500 2,500

 (1) Mr Pan Shun Ming and Madam Mai Shuying are spouses and are deemed to be interested in each other’s shares. 
By virtue of Section 7 of the Act, Mr Pan Shun Ming and Madam Mai Shuying are deemed to have an interest in all 
subsidiaries of the Company.

 (2) 2,500 shares are held through CIMB Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd.

 In accordance with the continuing listing requirements of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Directors of the Company state that, according to the Register of the Directors’ 
Shareholdings, the Directors’ interests as at 21 January 2018 in the shares or debentures of the Company 
and its related corporations have not changed from those disclosed as at 31 December 2017.

5. Share options

 There were no share options granted by the Company or its subsidiary corporations during the fi nancial 
year.

 There were no shares issued during the fi nancial year by virtue of the exercise of options to take up 
unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiary corporations.

 There were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiary corporations under option as at the 
end of the fi nancial year.
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6. Audit Committee

 The Audit Committee of the Company is chaired by Yeung Koon Sang @ David Yeung, and includes 
Chung Tang Fong, Chia Chor Leong, Guo Weihai and Tan Jiansheng, all Independent and Non-Executive 
Directors. The Audit Committee has met 4 times since the last Annual General Meeting and has reviewed 
the following, where relevant, with the Executive Directors and internal and external auditors of the 
Company:

 (a) the audit plans of the internal and external auditors and the results of the internal auditors’ 
examination and evaluation of the Group’s systems of internal accounting controls;

 (b) the Group’s fi nancial and operating results and accounting policies;

 (c) the statement of fi nancial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company and the 
consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group before their submission to the Directors of the 
Company and external auditor’s report on those fi nancial statements;

 (d) the half-yearly and annual fi nancial statements and results announcements as well as the related 
press releases on the results and fi nancial position of the Company and the Group;

 (e) the co-operation and assistance given by the management to the Group’s internal and external 
auditors; and

 (f) the re-appointment of the external auditor of the Company.

 The Audit Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and has been 
given the resources required for it to discharge its function properly. It also has full discretion to invite 
any Director and executive offi  cer to attend its meetings. The internal and external auditors have 
unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.

 The Audit Committee has recommended to the Directors the nomination of BDO LLP for re-appointment 
as external auditor at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

7. Independent auditor

 The independent auditor, BDO LLP, has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

 
Pan Shun Ming  Mai Shuying
Director Director

5 April 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the members of Southern Packaging Group Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of 
Southern Packaging Group Limited (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) as set out on 
pages 45 to 98, which comprise:

 the consolidated statement of financial 
position of the Group and the statement of 
financial position of the Company as at 31 
December 2017;

 the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and consolidated statement of 
cash fl ows of the Group and the statement 
of changes in equity of the Company for the 
fi nancial year then ended; and

 notes to the fi nancial statements, including a 
summary of signifi cant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of the Group and the 
statement of fi nancial position and the statement 
of changes in equity of the Company are properly 
drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the 
Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and 
Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”) 
so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
fi nancial position of the Group and the fi nancial 
position of the Company as at 31 December 2017 
and of the consolidated financial performance, 
consolidated changes in equity and consolidated 
cash flows of the Group and of the changes in 
equity of the Company for the fi nancial year ended 
on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and 
Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants 
and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the fi nancial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfi lled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is suffi  cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most signifi cance in our 
audit of the fi nancial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the fi nancial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.
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To the members of Southern Packaging Group Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

KEY AUDIT MATTER AUDIT RESPONSE

1 Land use rights of Nanhai District of Foshan City, Guicheng Street, Sanshan Creative Industry 
Park, SS-D04 block (“San Shan land use rights”)

The Group’s prepaid lease payments amounted to 
RMB59.05 million which represented 5.9% of the 
Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2017. 

Included in the prepaid lease payments as at 
31 December 2017 was an amount of RMB16.14 
million relating to the San Shan land use rights 
which was acquired on 10 October 2012 through an 
agreement with the Guangdong Foshan Municipal 
Bureau of Land Resources and Rural Planning 
Bureau (the “Bureau”). The Group is required to 
comply with certain terms as stipulated in the 
agreement, such as having to commence and 
complete the construction of property for industrial 
purposes on the land by 8 November 2013 and 
8 November 2015 respectively, failing which the 
Bureau has the rights to recover the land use rights 
and the Group will be required to pay liquidated 
damages to the Bureau.

A supplementary agreement was signed between 
the Group and the Bureau on 6 December 2016 
where the date of commencement was changed 
to 18 October 2017 and the date of completion 
was changed to 18 October 2019. As at the date of 
the fi nancial statements, construction has yet to 
commence and hence the Group has not fulfi lled 
the terms of the agreement with the Bureau. 

In assessing the impact arising from the non-
fulfi lment of the terms for the San Shan land use 
rights, management evaluates, among others, the 
past practices of the Bureau and the authorities in 
Foshan and the current status of the project. 

Based on management’s assessment, it is not 
probable that the Bureau would recover the 
San Shan land use rights or impose liquidated 
damages on the Group. Accordingly, no impairment 
loss on San Shan land use rights nor provision 
for liquidated damages was recognised in the 
accompanying fi nancial statements.

We have determined this to be a key audit 
matter as signifi cant judgements are involved in 
management’s assessment with regard to the San 
Shan land use rights.

We performed the following audit procedures, 
amongst others: 

 Obtained and read the agreement, 
supplementary agreement and related 
correspondences between the Group and 
the Bureau, and held discussions with 
management to obtain an understanding of 
the terms and conditions agreed between the 
parties.

 Discussed with management to obtain an 
understanding of management’s plans to 
commence and complete construction of the 
property. 

 Obtained and perused the correspondences 
between the Group and the Bureau, including  
documents submitted for the applications 
of the various permits and replies from the 
Bureau, to understand the current status of 
the project and evaluate the progress against 
management’s planned timeline. 

 Assessed the reasonableness of management’s 
judgements on the requirements of FRSs to 
evaluate whether impairment loss on San 
Shan land use rights or provision for liquidated 
damages should be recognised.

 Assessed the adequacy of related disclosures 
in the fi nancial statements.

Refer to Note 13 of the accompanying fi nancial statements.
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To the members of Southern Packaging Group Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

 Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the fi nancial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the fi nancial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the fi nancial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the fi nancial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of fi nancial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal 
accounting controls suffi  cient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss 
from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded 
as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair fi nancial statements and to maintain accountability 
of assets.

In preparing the fi nancial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s fi nancial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to infl uence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these fi nancial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is suffi  cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
eff ectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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To the members of Southern Packaging Group Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast signifi cant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the fi nancial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the fi nancial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the fi nancial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain suffi  cient appropriate audit evidence regarding the fi nancial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated fi nancial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and signifi cant audit fi ndings, including any signifi cant defi ciencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
signifi cance in the audit of the fi nancial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefi ts of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been 
properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Lew Wan Ming.

BDO LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
5 April 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.

Note 2017 2016
RMB RMB

Revenue 4 723,015,024 650,500,473

Cost of sales (560,356,004) (476,201,622)

Gross profi t 162,659,020 174,298,851

Other item of income
Other income 5 8,504,087 7,795,343

Other items of expense
Distribution expenses (41,337,162) (36,286,239)
Administrative expenses (87,817,958) (85,504,642)
Finance costs 6 (13,689,611) (12,333,049)

Profi t before income tax 7 28,318,376 47,970,264

Income tax expense 8 (2,640,893) (7,043,311)

Profi t for the fi nancial year, representing profi t for the fi nancial year 
attributable to owners of the parent 25,677,483 40,926,953

Other comprehensive income:
Item that may be reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t:
Exchange diff erences on translation of foreign operations (1,056,392) 1,108,881

Total comprehensive income for the fi nancial year, representing total 
comprehensive income attributable to owners of the parent 24,621,091 42,035,834

Earnings per share (RMB cents) 9 36.52 58.20
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Statements of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2017

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.

Group Company
Note 2017 2016 2017 2016

RMB RMB RMB RMB

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 536,651,654 462,534,568 – –
Investment property 11 452,555 469,961 – –
Investments in subsidiaries 12 – – 465,932,925 449,312,741
Prepaid lease payments 13 59,049,137 60,487,312 – –
Deferred tax assets 14 1,449,906 2,163,147 – –
Total non-current assets 597,603,252 525,654,988 465,932,925 449,312,741

Current assets
Inventories 15 75,170,401 72,437,361 – –
Trade receivables 16 169,150,524 155,522,615 – –
Other receivables and prepayments 17 27,947,514 41,848,007 1,304,753 693,209
Cash and bank balances 18 115,380,923 106,690,487 535,566 1,305,318
Fixed deposits 19 13,998,721 7,902,619 – –
Total current assets 401,648,083 384,401,089 1,840,319 1,998,527

Total assets 999,251,335 910,056,077 467,773,244 451,311,268

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Equity
Share capital 20 230,592,765 230,592,765 230,592,765 230,592,765
Capital contribution 21 12,638,812 12,638,812 – –
Statutory reserve 21 56,292,235 55,313,017 – –
Foreign currency translation account 21 (3,112,168) (2,055,776) – –
Retained earnings 253,153,382 232,622,793 223,139,252 213,088,387
Total equity 549,565,026 529,111,611 453,732,017 443,681,152

Non-current liabilities
Deferred government subsidies 22 13,154,740 14,276,900 – –
Deferred tax liabilities 14 1,000,000 2,313,139 – –
Bank borrowings 23 97,433,690 58,896,500 – –
Total non-current liabilities 111,588,430 75,486,539 – –

Current liabilities
Deferred government subsidies 22 915,430 561,035 – –
Current income tax payable 138,021 5,844,186 – –
Trade payables 24 120,305,915 103,952,721 – –
Other payables 25 32,595,522 28,065,347 14,041,227 7,630,116
Bank borrowings 23 184,142,991 167,034,638 – –
Total current liabilities 338,097,879 305,457,927 14,041,227 7,630,116

Total liabilities 449,686,309 380,944,466 14,041,227 7,630,116
Total liabilities and equity 999,251,335 910,056,077 467,773,244 451,311,268
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Statements of Changes in Equity
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.

Note
Share

capital
Capital

contribution
Statutory
reserve

Foreign
currency

translation
account

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB

Group
Balance as at 1.1.2017 230,592,765 12,638,812 55,313,017 (2,055,776) 232,622,793 529,111,611
Profi t for the fi nancial year – – – – 25,677,483 25,677,483
Other comprehensive income 

for the fi nancial year
- Exchange diff erences on 

translation of foreign 
operations – – – (1,056,392) – (1,056,392)

Total comprehensive income 
for the fi nancial year – – – (1,056,392) 25,677,483 24,621,091

Distributions to owners of the 
parent

Dividends 28 – – – – (4,167,676) (4,167,676)

Others
Transfer to statutory reserve 21 – – 979,218 – (979,218) –

Balance as at 31.12.2017 230,592,765 12,638,812 56,292,235 (3,112,168) 253,153,382 549,565,026

Note
Share

capital
Capital

contribution
Statutory
reserve

Foreign
currency

translation
account

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB

Group
Balance as at 1.1.2016 230,592,765 12,638,812 48,164,213 (3,164,657) 202,903,972 491,135,105
Profi t for the fi nancial year – – – – 40,926,953 40,926,953
Other comprehensive income 

for the fi nancial year
- Exchange diff erences 

on translation of foreign 
operations – – – 1,108,881 – 1,108,881

Total comprehensive income 
for the fi nancial year – – – 1,108,881 40,926,953 42,035,834

Distributions to owners of the 
parent

Dividends 28 – – – – (4,059,328) (4,059,328)

Others
Transfer to statutory reserve 21 – – 7,148,804 – (7,148,804) –

Balance as at 31.12.2016 230,592,765 12,638,812 55,313,017 (2,055,776) 232,622,793 529,111,611
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Statements of Changes in Equity
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.

Note
Share

capital
Retained
earnings

Total
equity

RMB RMB RMB

Company
Balance as at 1.1.2017 230,592,765 213,088,387 443,681,152

Profi t for the fi nancial year, representing total 
comprehensive income for the fi nancial year – 14,218,541 14,218,541

Distributions to owners of the parent
Dividends 28 – (4,167,676) (4,167,676)

Balance as at 31.12.2017 230,592,765 223,139,252 453,732,017

Balance as at 1.1.2016 230,592,765 180,354,735 410,947,500

Profi t for the fi nancial year, representing total 
comprehensive income for the fi nancial year – 36,792,980 36,792,980

Distributions to owners of the parent
Dividends 28 – (4,059,328) (4,059,328)

Balance as at 31.12.2016 230,592,765 213,088,387 443,681,152
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.

2017 2016
RMB RMB

Operating activities
Profi t before income tax 28,318,376 47,970,264

Adjustments for:
(Write-back)/Allowance for impairment of trade receivables (1,714,002) 1,298,810
Amortisation of deferred government subsidy (767,765) (561,036)
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 1,438,175 1,489,032
Depreciation of investment property 17,406 17,406
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 50,432,961 46,630,660
Interest expense 13,689,611 12,333,049
Interest income (532,675) (664,022)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 90,439 1,601,001
Gain from expropriated land – (743,069)
Unrealised foreign currency exchange (gain)/loss (141,577) 369,963
(Write-back)/Write-down of inventories (745,227) 20,210

Operating cash fl ows before working capital changes 90,085,722 109,762,268
Working capital changes:

Inventories (2,003,514) 1,664,744
Trade receivables (11,141,732) 2,880,448
Other receivables and prepayments 13,883,199 (16,861,332)
Trade payables (7,177,026) (14,997,300)
Other payables 4,643,859 (437,548)

Cash generated from operations 88,290,508 82,011,280
Income tax paid (8,944,249) (9,203,363)

Net cash from operating activities 79,346,259 72,807,917

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (102,693,261) (89,485,636)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 228,000 5,779,825
Interest received 532,675 664,022
Government subsidies received on purchase of property, plant and equipment – 3,543,936
Compensation for expropriated land – 3,623,176
Proceeds from disposal of asset held for sale – 7,881,700

Net cash used in investing activities (101,932,586) (67,992,977)

Financing activities
Interest paid (13,689,611) (12,333,049)
Proceeds from bank borrowings 308,769,923 177,181,060
Repayment of bank borrowings (252,776,701) (159,923,646)
Increase in pledged fi xed deposits (5,139,187) (4,593,535)
Dividends paid (4,167,676) (4,059,328)

Net cash from/(used in) fi nancing activities 32,996,748 (3,728,498)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 10,410,421 1,086,442
Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the fi nancial year 106,690,487 104,905,211
Eff ect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign 

currencies (763,070) 698,834
Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the fi nancial year (Note 18) 116,337,838 106,690,487
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.

Note A: Reconciliation of liabilities arising from fi nancing activities is as follows:

Non-cash 
changes

2016 Cash fl ows

Foreign 
exchange 

diff erences 2017
RMB RMB RMB RMB

Bank borrowings 225,931,138 55,993,222 (347,679) 281,576,681
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Notes to The Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the fi nancial statements.

1. General information

 Southern Packaging Group Limited (the “Company”) (Registration Number: 200313312N) is a public 
company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Singapore with its registered 
offi  ce at 80 Robinson Road, #02-00, Singapore 068898 and principal place of business at No. 9 Foping 
Four Road, Gui Cheng, Nanhai, Foshan City, Guangdong 528251, People’s Republic of China. The 
Company is listed on the Main Board of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).

 The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of its 
subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 12 to the fi nancial statements.

 The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and the 
statement of fi nancial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the fi nancial year 
ended 31 December 2017 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 5 April 2018.

2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies

 2.1 Basis of preparation of fi nancial statements

  The fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore 
Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRS”) including 
related Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) and are prepared under the historical cost convention, 
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

  The individual financial statements of each Group entity are measured and presented in 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional 
currency”). The consolidated financial statements of the Group, the statement of financial 
position and statement of changes in equity of the Company are presented in Chinese renminbi 
(“RMB”) which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency for the 
consolidated fi nancial statements.

  The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that aff ect the Group’s application of accounting policies 
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses.  Although these estimates are 
based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may diff er 
from those estimates. The areas where such judgements or estimates have the most signifi cant 
eff ect on the fi nancial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

  In the current fi nancial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised FRS and INT FRS that 
are relevant to its operations and eff ective for the current fi nancial year. The adoption of these 
new or revised FRS and INT FRS did not result in changes to the Group’s accounting policies and 
had no material eff ect on the amounts reported for the current and prior fi nancial years. 

  FRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosure Initiative  

  The amendments require additional disclosures to enable users of financial statements to 
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from fi nancing activities, including both changes arising from 
cash fl ows and non-cash changes. 

  The Group adopted these amendments on 1 January 2017 and the additional disclosures have 
been included in the consolidated statement of cash fl ows.
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Notes to The Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017

2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

 2.1 Basis of preparation of fi nancial statements (Continued)

  Full IFRS convergence

  Singapore-incorporated companies listed on SGX-ST are required to apply a new financial 
reporting framework identical to the International Financial Reporting Standards for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The new framework is referred to as ‘Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)”)’. The Group will adopt the new framework 
on 1 January 2018 and will apply the equivalent to SFRS(I) 1 First-time Adoption of Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards (International) on the transition. This will involve restating the 
comparatives for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2017 and the opening statements of 
fi nancial position as at 1 January 2017 in accordance with the new framework.

  The Group has completed its assessment of the impact of transition and anticipates that the 
adoption on 1 January 2018 (including the application of all the mandatory exceptions) will not 
have a material impact on the fi nancial statements of the Group for the fi nancial year ending 
31 December 2018, other than the impact from the adoption of SFRS(I) 9 and SFRS(I) 15 which 
is expected to be similar to the impact of FRS 109 and FRS 115 as disclosed below. The Group is 
currently fi nalising the transitional adjustments that are required or elected under SFRS(I) 1.

  FRS and INT FRS issued but not yet eff ective

  At the date of authorisation of these fi nancial statements, the following FRS and INT FRS that are 
relevant to the Group were issued but not yet eff ective, and have not been adopted early in these 
fi nancial statements:

Eff ective date 
(annual periods 

beginning on 
or after)

FRS 40 (Amendments)  : Transfers of Investment Property 1 January 2018
FRS 109  : Financial Instruments 1 January 2018
FRS 115  : Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018
FRS 115 (Amendments)  :  Clarifi cations to FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers
1 January 2018

FRS 116  : Leases 1 January 2019
INT FRS 122  :  Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 

Consideration
1 January 2018

Improvements to FRSs (March 2018)
- FRS 103 (Amendments)  : Business Combinations 1 January 2019
- FRS 111 (Amendments)  : Joint Arrangements 1 January 2019
- FRS 12 (Amendments)  : Income Taxes 1 January 2019
- FRS 23 (Amendments)  : Borrowing Costs 1 January 2019
INT FRS 123  : Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019

  Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/revised 
standards.

  The management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRS and INT FRS in future periods, 
will not have a material impact on the fi nancial statements of the Group in the period of initial 
adoption, except as discussed below.
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Notes to The Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017

2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

 2.1 Basis of preparation of fi nancial statements (Continued)

  FRS and INT FRS issued but not yet eff ective (Continued)

  FRS 109 Financial Instruments

  FRS 109 supersedes FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement with new 
requirements for the classifi cation and measurement of fi nancial assets and liabilities, impairment 
of fi nancial assets and hedge accounting.

  Classifi cation and measurement

  Under FRS 109, fi nancial assets are classifi ed into fi nancial assets measured at fair value or at 
amortised cost depending on the Group’s business model for managing the fi nancial assets and 
the contractual cash fl ow characteristics of the fi nancial assets. Fair value gains or losses will be 
recognised in profi t or loss except for certain equity investments, for which the Group will have 
a choice to recognise the gains and losses in other comprehensive income. A third measurement 
category has been added for debt instruments – fair value through other comprehensive income. 
This measurement category applies to debt instruments that meet the Solely Payments of 
Principal and Interest contractual cash fl ow characteristics test and where the Group is holding the 
debt instrument to both collect the contractual cash fl ows and to sell the fi nancial assets.

  FRS 109 carries forward the recognition, classification and measurement requirements for 
fi nancial liabilities from FRS 39, except for fi nancial liabilities that are designated at fair value 
through profi t or loss, where the amount of change in fair value attributable to change in credit 
risk of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive income unless that would create or 
enlarge an accounting mismatch. In addition, FRS 109 retains the requirements in FRS 39 for de-
recognition of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities.

  The Group has completed its preliminary assessment of classifi cation and measurement of 
its fi nancial assets and liabilities and does not expect any changes to the classifi cation and 
measurement of its fi nancial assets and liabilities currently measured at amortised cost.

  Impairment

  FRS 109 introduces a new forward-looking impairment model based on expected credit losses 
to replace the incurred loss model in FRS 39. This determines the recognition of impairment 
provisions as well as interest revenue. For fi nancial assets at amortised cost or fair value through 
other comprehensive income, the Group will now always recognise (at a minimum) 12 months of 
expected losses in profi t or loss. Lifetime expected losses will be recognised on these assets when 
there is a signifi cant increase in credit risk after initial recognition.

  The Group expects to adopt the simplifi ed model for its trade receivables and will record an 
allowance for lifetime expected losses from initial recognition. For other receivables and fi nancial 
guarantees, the Group will initially provide for 12 months expected losses under the three-stage 
model. 

  Based on the expected credit loss model, the Group estimate that the impairment loss allowance 
on trade and other receivables will not result in signifi cant impact as at 1 January 2018.

  The Group and the Company are currently fi nalising the policies and procedures in determining 
how to estimate expected credit losses and the sources of forward-looking data, and evaluating 
the tax implications arising from the above change in impairment model.
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Notes to The Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017

2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

 2.1 Basis of preparation of fi nancial statements (Continued)

  FRS and INT FRS issued but not yet eff ective (Continued)

  FRS 109 Financial Instruments (Continued)

  Transition

  The Group plans to adopt FRS 109 in the fi nancial year beginning on 1 January 2018 with 
retrospective eff ect in accordance with the transitional provisions and intends to elect not to 
restate comparatives for the previous fi nancial year. 

  The Group will include additional disclosures in its fi nancial statements for that fi nancial year.

  FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

  FRS 115 introduces a comprehensive model that applies to revenue from contracts with 
customers and supersedes all existing revenue recognition requirements under FRS. The model 
features a fi ve-step analysis to determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognised, 
and two approaches for recognising revenue: at a point in time or over time. The core principle 
is that an entity recognises revenue when control over promised goods or services is transferred 
to customers in an amount that refl ects the consideration to which the entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. FRS 115 also introduces extensive qualitative 
and quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the fi nancial statements 
to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash fl ows arising from 
contracts with customers.

  The Group has performed a preliminary assessment of its revenue from sale of goods and raw 
materials. Based on the preliminary assessment on initial adoption of FRS 115, the Group did not 
identify any signifi cant impact on the timing and pattern of revenue recognition of the Group and 
the Company as disclosed in Note 2.4 to the fi nancial statements. 

  The Group plans to adopt FRS 115 in the fi nancial year beginning on 1 January 2018 using full 
retrospective method in accordance with the transitional provisions, and will include the required 
additional disclosures in its fi nancial statements for that fi nancial year.

  FRS 116 Leases

  FRS 116 supersedes FRS 17 Leases and introduces a new single lessee accounting model which 
eliminates the current distinction between operating and fi nance leases for lessees. FRS 116 
requires lessees to capitalise all leases on the statement of fi nancial position by recognising a 
‘right-of-use’ asset and a corresponding lease liability for the present value of the obligation to 
make lease payments, except for certain short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. 
Subsequently, the lease assets will be depreciated and the lease liabilities will be measured at 
amortised cost.

  From the perspective of a lessor, the classifi cation and accounting for operating and fi nance leases 
remains substantially unchanged under FRS 116. FRS 116 also requires enhanced disclosures by 
both lessees and lessors.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

 2.1 Basis of preparation of fi nancial statements (Continued)

  FRS and INT FRS issued but not yet eff ective (Continued)

  FRS 116 Leases (Continued)

  On initial adoption of FRS 116, there may be a potentially signifi cant impact on the accounting 
treatment for leases, particularly factory space, offi  ce premises and sales offi  ces, which the Group 
as lessee currently accounts for as operating leases. On adoption of FRS 116, the Group will be 
required to capitalise its rented factory space and offi  ce premises on the statement of fi nancial 
position by recognising them as ‘right-of-use’ assets and their corresponding lease liabilities for 
the present value of future lease payments. The Group plans to adopt the standard in the fi nancial 
year beginning on 1 January 2019 using the modifi ed retrospective method in accordance with 
the transitional provisions, and will include the required additional disclosures in its fi nancial 
statements for that fi nancial year.

  The Group is still in the process of gathering data on its discount rate and expected lease terms 
for the respective operating leases in order to quantify the impact upon transition to the new 
standard.

  INT FRS 122 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

  INT FRS 122 addresses how to determine the date of the transaction for the purpose of 
determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or 
income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability 
arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration in a foreign currency.

  The interpretation states that the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the 
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) is 
the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability 
arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration.

  The Group does not expect the adoption of this INT FRS will have a signifi cant impact as at 1 
January 2018.

  The Group will adopt INT FRS 122 in the fi nancial year beginning on 1 January 2018 using the 
retrospective method in accordance with the transitional provisions.

 2.2 Basis of consolidation

  The consolidated fi nancial statements incorporate the fi nancial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an 
investee if the Group has power over the investee, exposure to variable returns from the investee, 
and the ability to use its power to aff ect those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever 
facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of these elements of control.

  Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by to the Group up to 
the eff ective date on which control is lost, as appropriate.

  Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised gains arising from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses may be an impairment indicator of 
the asset concerned.

  The fi nancial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same fi nancial year as that of 
the Company, using consistent accounting policies. Where necessary, accounting policies of 
subsidiaries are changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by other members of the 
Group.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

 2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

  Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted 
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling 
interests are adjusted to refl ect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any 
diff erence between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the 
fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to 
owners of the parent.

  When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. The profi t or loss on disposal is calculated as the 
diff erence between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the 
fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including 
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. 
reclassifi ed to profi t or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner 
as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any 
investments retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the 
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under FRS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment 
in an associate or joint venture.

  In the separate fi nancial statements of the Company, investments in subsidiaries are carried at 
cost, less any impairment losses that has been recognised in profi t or loss.

 2.3 Business combinations 

  The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of 
exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the 
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profi t or 
loss as incurred. Consideration also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration.

  The acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for 
recognition under FRS 103 are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

  Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the 
acquired entity are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains 
control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profi t or loss. Amounts arising from 
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in 
other comprehensive income are reclassifi ed to profi t or loss, where such treatment would be 
appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

  Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset at the acquisition date and initially 
measured at the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity 
interest (if any) in the entity over net acquisition-date fair value amounts of the identifi able assets 
acquired and the liabilities assumed.

  If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifi able net 
assets exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profi t or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

 2.4 Revenue recognition

  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is 
presented net of estimated customer returns, rebates, other similar allowances and sales related 
taxes.

  Sale of goods and raw materials 

  Revenue from the sale of rigid and fl exible packaging products and raw materials is recognised 
when all the following conditions are satisfi ed:

   the Group has transferred to the buyer the signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
goods and raw materials;

   the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually 
associated with ownership nor eff ective control over the goods and raw materials sold;

   the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

   it is probable that the economic benefi ts associated with the transaction will fl ow to the 
Group; and

   the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

  Normally these conditions are considered to be met when the goods are delivered to and 
accepted by the buyer.

  Interest income

  Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 
eff ective interest rate applicable.

  Rental income

  Rental income from investment property is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant leases.

 2.5 Government subsidies

  Government subsidies are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will 
comply with the conditions attaching to them and the subsidies will be received. Government 
subsidies whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise 
acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred government subsidies in the statements 
of fi nancial position and transferred to profi t or loss on a systematic and rationale basis over the 
useful lives of the related assets.

 2.6 Retirement benefi t costs

  Payments to defi ned contribution plans are charged as an expense as they fall due. Payments 
made to state-managed retirement benefi t schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident 
Fund, are dealt with as payments to defi ned contribution plans where the Group’s obligations 
under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defi ned contribution plan.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

 2.6 Retirement benefi t costs (Continued)

  Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) government, the 
Group participates in a local municipal government retirement benefi ts scheme (the “Scheme”), 
whereby the subsidiaries of the Company in the People’s Republic of China are required to 
contribute a certain percentage of the basic salaries of their employees to the Scheme to fund 
their retirement benefi ts. The local municipal government undertakes to assume the retirement 
benefits obligations of all existing and future retired employees of the subsidiaries of the 
Company. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the Scheme is to pay the required 
contributions under the Scheme mentioned above. Contributions under the Scheme are charged 
to the profi t or loss as incurred. 

 2.7 Employee leave entitlements

  Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. An accrual 
is made for the estimated undiscounted liability for unutilised annual leave expected to be settled 
wholly within 12 months from the reporting date as a result of services rendered by employees up 
to the end of the fi nancial year.

 2.8 Leases

  The Group as a lessee

  Operating leases

  Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profi t or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time 
pattern in which economic benefi ts from the leased asset are consumed.

  The Group as a lessor

  Operating leases

  Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
user benefi t derived from the leased asset is diminished. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating 
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

 2.9 Borrowing costs

  Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets are recognised in profi t or loss in the period in which they are incurred using the 
eff ective interest method.

 2.10 Taxes

  Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

 2.10 Taxes (Continued)

  Current income tax

  The tax currently payable is based on taxable profi t for the fi nancial year. Taxable profi t diff ers 
from profi t reported in profi t or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other fi nancial years and it further excludes items that are not taxable 
or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is recognised at the amount expected to 
be paid or recovered from the tax authorities and is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the Company and its subsidiaries 
operate by the end of the fi nancial year.

  Current income taxes are recognised in profi t or loss, except to the extent that the tax relates to 
items recognised outside profi t or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

  Deferred tax

  Deferred tax is recognised on all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the fi nancial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profi t, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary diff erences and deferred 
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi ts will be available 
against which deductible temporary diff erences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not 
recognised if the temporary diff erence arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other 
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that aff ects neither 
the taxable profi t nor the accounting profi t.

  Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary diff erences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary diff erence 
and it is probable that the temporary diff erence will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each fi nancial year and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that suffi  cient taxable profi ts will be available to 
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

  Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the 
liability is settled or the asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the fi nancial year.

  The measurement of deferred tax refl ects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects to recover or settle its assets and liabilities, except for 
investment property at fair value which are presumed to be recovered through sale.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are off set when there is a legally enforceable right to set off  
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a 
net basis.

  Deferred tax is recognised in profi t or loss, except when it relates to items recognised outside 
profi t or loss, in which case the tax is also recognised either in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

 2.10 Taxes (Continued)

  Sales tax

  Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

  – when the sales tax that is incurred on purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from 
the tax authorities, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

  – receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

  The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as 
part of receivables or payables in the statements of fi nancial position.

 2.11 Foreign currency transactions and translation

  In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies 
other than the entity’s functional currency (“foreign currencies”) are recorded at the rate of 
exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end of each fi nancial year, monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing as of the end 
of the fi nancial year. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated.

  Exchange diff erences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of 
monetary items are included in profi t or loss for the period. Exchange diff erences arising on 
the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profi t or loss for 
the period except for diff erences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect 
of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. For such non-monetary items, any 
exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised directly in equity.

  For the purpose of presenting consolidated fi nancial statements, the assets and liabilities of the 
Group’s foreign operation (including comparatives) are expressed in RMB using exchange rates 
prevailing at the end of the fi nancial year. Income and expense items (including comparatives) 
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fl uctuated 
signifi cantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions 
are used. Exchange diff erences arising, are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the Group’s foreign currency translation account.

  On consolidation, exchange diff erences arising from the translation of the net investment in 
foreign entities (including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in 
foreign entities), and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such 
investments, are taken to the foreign currency translation account.

  On disposal of a foreign operation, the accumulated foreign currency translation account relating 
to that operation is reclassifi ed to profi t or loss.
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 2.12 Property, plant and equipment

  Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The cost includes its 
purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 
Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of the cost if the obligation for 
dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using the 
property, plant and equipment.

  Subsequent expenditure relating to the property, plant and equipment that has already been 
recognised is added to the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment when it is 
probable that the future economic benefi ts, in excess of the standard of performance of the 
property, plant and equipment before the expenditure was made, will fl ow to the Group, and the 
cost can be reliably measured. Other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense during 
the fi nancial year in which it is incurred.

  Depreciation is charged so as to write off  the cost of assets after taking into account their 
estimated residual value of 5% to 10%, other than construction in progress, over their estimated 
useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following rates per annum:

  Buildings 2.25% to 2.375%
  Plant and machinery 6.33% to 18%
  Furniture, fi xture and equipment 18% to 20%
  Motor vehicles 18% to 19%
  Leasehold improvements 20%

  No depreciation is charged on construction in progress as they are not yet in use as at the end of 
the fi nancial year.

  Construction in progress is carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. The costs include 
all direct costs, professional fees and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs directly attributable 
to the construction. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other assets, commences 
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

  The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

  The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted 
as appropriate, at the end of each fi nancial year.

  An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefi ts are expected from its use or disposal. 

  The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is determined as the diff erence between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset 
and is recognised in profi t or loss.

 2.13 Investment property

  Investment property is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. On initial 
recognition, investment property is measured at cost, including any directly attributable capital 
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is charged so as 
to write off  the cost of investment property over their estimated useful lives and after taking into 
account of their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method, at the rate of 2.375% 
per annum.



62

Notes to The Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017

2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

 2.13 Investment property (Continued)

  An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefi ts are expected from its disposal. 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the diff erence between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profi t or loss in the fi nancial 
year in which the item is derecognised.

  Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a 
transfer between investment property and owner-occupied property, the transfer does not 
change the carrying amount of the property transferred and it does not change the cost of that 
property for measurement or disclosure purpose. For a transfer from owner-occupied property 
to investment property, the property is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy for 
property, plant and equipment set out in Note 2.12 to the fi nancial statements up to the date of 
change in use.

 2.14 Prepaid lease payments

  Prepaid lease payments represent up-front payments to acquire long term interests in the usage 
of land in the People’s Republic of China. They are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on the straight-line basis over 
the lease terms of 40 or 50 years.

 2.15 Impairment of non-fi nancial assets

  At the end of each fi nancial year, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-fi nancial 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in 
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate 
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

  The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less 
costs to sell and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash fl ows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that refl ects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the asset. 

  If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profi t or loss.

 
  Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-

generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that 
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior 
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profi t or loss.

 2.16 Inventories

  Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct 
materials and where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred 
in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the 
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all 
estimated costs to completion and costs to be incurred in distribution.
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 2.17 Financial instruments

  Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are recognised on the statements of fi nancial position 
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

  Eff ective interest method

  The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
instrument and allocating the interest income or expense over the relevant period. The eff ective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments 
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the eff ective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
fi nancial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the 
fi nancial instrument. Income and expense are recognised on an eff ective interest basis for debt 
instruments.

  Financial assets

  Financial assets are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs.

  The Group classifi es its fi nancial assets as loans and receivables. The classifi cation depends on the 
nature and purpose for which these fi nancial assets were acquired and is determined at the time 
of initial recognition.

  Loans and receivables

  Non-derivative fi nancial assets that have fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market are classifi ed as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at 
amortised cost, using the eff ective interest method, less impairment. Interest is recognised by 
applying the eff ective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of 
interest would be immaterial.

  Loans and receivables in the statements of fi nancial position comprise trade receivables, other 
receivables and prepayments (excluding prepayments, advances to suppliers and prepayments for 
construction in progress), cash and bank balances and fi xed deposits.

  Impairment of fi nancial assets

  Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each fi nancial year. 
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that the estimated future cash 
fl ows of the assets have been impacted.

  For fi nancial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the diff erence 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash fl ows, 
discounted at the original eff ective interest rate.

  The carrying amounts of all fi nancial assets are reduced by the impairment loss directly with the 
exception of receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profi t or loss.

  If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profi t or loss to the extent the carrying amount of 
the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would 
have been had the impairment not been recognised.



64

Notes to The Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017

2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

 2.17 Financial instruments (Continued)

  Financial assets (Continued)

  Derecognition of fi nancial assets
 
  The Group derecognises a fi nancial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash fl ows from 

the asset expire, or it transfers the fi nancial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity.

  On derecognition, any diff erence between the carrying amount and the sum of proceeds received 
and amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profi t or loss.

  Financial liabilities and equity instruments

  Classifi cation as debt or equity

  Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classifi ed according to the 
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the defi nitions of a fi nancial liability 
and an equity instrument.

  Equity instruments

  An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the entity 
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net 
of direct issue costs. The Group classifi es ordinary shares as equity instruments.

  Financial liabilities

  The Group classifi es its fi nancial liabilities as other fi nancial liabilities.

  Other fi nancial liabilities

  Trade and other payables

  Trade and other payables (excluding customers advances) are initially measured at fair value, net 
of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, where applicable, using 
the eff ective interest method.

  Borrowings

  Borrowings are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the eff ective interest method. Any diff erence between the proceeds (net of transaction 
costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the 
borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see Note 2.9 
above).

  Financial guarantee contracts

  The Company has issued corporate guarantees to banks for borrowings of certain subsidiaries 
and these guarantees qualify as financial guarantees because the Company is required to 
reimburse the banks if these subsidiaries breach any repayment term.

  Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values, net of transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, fi nancial guarantees are recognised as income in profi t 
or loss over the period of the guarantee. If it is probable that the liability will be higher than the 
amount initially recognised less amortisation, the liability is recorded at the higher amount with 
the diff erence charged to profi t or loss.
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 2.17 Financial instruments (Continued)

  Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

  Financial liabilities (Continued)

  Derecognition of fi nancial liabilities

  The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations 
are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The diff erence between the carrying amount and the 
consideration paid is recognised in profi t or loss.

 2.18 Dividends

  Equity dividends are recognised when they become legally payable. Interim dividends are 
recorded in the fi nancial year in which they are declared payable. Final dividends are recorded in 
the fi nancial year in which dividends are approved by shareholders.

 2.19 Cash and cash equivalents

  Cash and cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes in value. For 
the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash fl ows, cash and cash equivalents exclude any 
pledged deposits.

 2.20 Segment reporting

  Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to 
the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for 
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identifi ed as 
the group of executive Directors and Chief Executive Offi  cer who makes strategic decisions.

3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

 In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2 to the fi nancial 
statements, management made judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities that were not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions were based on historical experience and other factors that were considered to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may diff er from these estimates.

 These estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision aff ects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision aff ects both current and future 
periods.

 3.1 Critical judgements made in applying the entity’s accounting policies

  Management is of the opinion that there are no critical judgements (other than those involving 
estimations) that have a signifi cant eff ect on the amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements.
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3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

 3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

  The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the end of the fi nancial year, that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year, are discussed below.

  (i) Allowance for impairment of trade and other receivables 

   The policy for impairment of receivables of the Group is based on the ageing analysis and 
management’s ongoing evaluation of the recoverability of the outstanding receivables. A 
considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these 
receivables, including the assessment of the creditworthiness and the past collection history 
of each customer. If the fi nancial conditions of the customers were to deteriorate, resulting 
in impairment of their ability to make the required payments, additional allowances may 
be required. Further details of the Group’s allowance policy are disclosed in Note 16 to 
the fi nancial statements. The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables and other 
receivables as at 31 December 2017 are RMB169,150,524 (2016: RMB155,522,615) and 
RMB4,488,042 (2016: RMB5,463,486) respectively. The carrying amounts of the Company’s 
other receivables as at 31 December 2017 is RMB1,304,753 (2016: RMB693,209).

  (ii) Inventory valuation method

   Inventories are valued at the lower of actual cost and net realisable value. Cost is 
determined primarily using the weighted average method. Market price is generally the 
merchandise’s selling price quoted from the market of similar items. Management reviews 
the Group’s inventory levels in order to identify slow-moving and obsolete merchandise 
and identifi es items of inventory which have a market price that is lower than its carrying 
amount. Management then estimates the amount of inventory loss as an allowance on 
inventory. Changes in demand levels, technological developments and pricing competition 
could aff ect the saleability and values of the inventory which could then consequentially 
impact the Group’s results, cash fl ows and fi nancial position. The carrying amount of the 
Group’s inventories as at 31 December 2017 was RMB75,170,401 (2016: RMB72,437,361).

  (iii) Provision for income and deferred taxes

   The Group recognises liabilities of expected tax issues based on their best estimates of 
the likely taxes due. This includes the determination of estimated unremitted earnings for 
dividend distribution on which deferred tax liability is to be provide for. Where the fi nal 
tax outcome of these matters is diff erent from the amounts that were initially recognised, 
such diff erences will impact the income tax and deferred tax positions in the period in 
which such determination is made. The carrying amount of the Group’s current income 
tax payable as at 31 December 2017 was RMB138,021 (2016: RMB5,844,186). The carrying 
amounts of the Group’s deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as at 31 December 
2017 were RMB1,449,906 (2016: RMB2,163,147) and RMB1,000,000 (2016: RMB2,313,139) 
respectively.

4. Revenue

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Sale of goods 723,015,024 650,500,473
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5. Other income

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Amortisation of deferred government subsidy related to assets* 767,765 561,036
Foreign exchange gains, net 196,993 963,853
Gain on expropriated land – 743,069
Government subsidies related to expenditure* 1,523,100 2,142,824
Interest income - bank deposits 532,675 664,022
Miscellaneous income** 969,010 16,411
Operating lease income - investment property 137,143 137,143
Operating lease income - offi  ce premises 174,628 323,706
Sales of raw materials 4,202,773 2,243,279

8,504,087 7,795,343

 * Various government subsidies have been received mainly from the People’s Republic of China government for the 
Group’s business conducted in those areas. There are no unfulfi lled conditions or contingencies related to these 
subsidies.

 ** Miscellaneous income consisted of sale of samples, moulds, rollers and packing materials.

6. Finance costs

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Interest expense on bank borrowings 13,689,611 12,333,049

7. Profi t before income tax

 The above is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Cost of sales
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 560,356,004 476,201,622

Included in the above are:
- Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 45,442,736 42,820,131
- Operating lease expenses – factory space 1,117,177 876,967
- (Write-back)/Write-down of inventories (745,227) 20,210
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7. Profi t before income tax (Continued)

 The above is arrived at after charging/(crediting): (Continued)

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Distribution expenses
Advertisement and promotional expenses 24,717 57,428
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 204,152 77,173
Entertainment expenses 3,002,509 1,959,029
Employee benefi ts expense
- Salaries, bonuses and allowances 5,431,233 6,816,939
- Contributions to defi ned contribution plans 404,264 366,248
- Staff  welfare 101,272 56,561
Operating lease expenses – sales offi  ces 265,000 239,850
Transportation costs 26,781,528 22,366,841
Travelling and accommodation expenses 2,152,407 1,868,085
Upkeep of motor vehicles expenses 716,093 652,992

Administrative expenses
(Write-back)/Allowance for impairment of trade receivables (1,714,002) 1,298,810 
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 1,438,175 1,489,032
Audit fee
- Auditors of the Company 456,403 426,638
- Other auditors (a member fi rm of BDO International Limited) 509,000 509,000
- Other auditors 35,004 34,709
Non-audit fee
- Auditors of the Company 14,649 14,014
- Other auditors (a member fi rm of BDO International Limited) – 32,000
Bank charges 726,092 668,493
Depreciation of investment property 17,406 17,406
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,786,073 3,733,356
Directors’ remuneration
- Directors of the Company(1)

- Directors’ fees 795,081 591,938
- Salaries, bonuses and allowances 8,033,309 8,503,615
- Contributions to defi ned contribution plans 221,139 290,759

Duty and tax 6,188,360 7,172,788
Employee benefi ts expense(1)

- Salaries, bonuses and allowances 12,412,890 10,269,934
- Contributions to defi ned contribution plans 1,188,158 1,130,305
- Other related costs 1,592,937 964,202
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 90,439 1,601,001
Offi  ce repairs and maintenance expenses 145,619 135,589
Operating lease expenses – offi  ce premises 664,820 659,204
R&D expenditure 30,387,026 26,840,426
Telephone and fax charges 1,121,466 1,139,149
Travelling and accommodation expenses 2,469,348 1,947,323

 (1) Directors’ remuneration and employee benefi ts expense are included in key management personnel remuneration as 
disclosed in Note 33 to the fi nancial statements.
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8. Income tax expense

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Current income tax
- current fi nancial year 2,409,336 6,182,123
- underprovision in prior fi nancial years – 14,708
Withholding tax 831,455 2,010,864

3,240,791 8,207,695
Deferred tax
- current fi nancial year (599,898) (1,164,384)

2,640,893 7,043,311

 Subsidiaries of the Group which are incorporated in People’s Republic of China are subject to China 
income tax of 25% except for Foshan Southern Packaging Co., Ltd and Southern Packaging (Jiangsu) Co., 
Ltd which are awarded the status of a High Technology Enterprise and enjoy a concessionary tax rate of 
15% on its profi ts up till the fi nancial year ending 31 December 2019. Southern (HK) Packaging Company 
Limited, a subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong is subject to Hong Kong income tax of 16.5%.

 The income tax expense varies from the amount of income tax expense determined by applying the 
Singapore income tax rate of 17% to profi t before income tax as a result of the following diff erences:

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Profi t before income tax 28,318,376 47,970,264

Tax at Singapore statutory income tax rate 4,814,124 8,154,945
Tax eff ect of expenses that are not deductible in determining
 taxable profi t 3,243,061 2,918,744
Tax eff ect of income that are not taxable in determining
 taxable profi t (2,010,522) (2,835,267)
Deduction on disposal of associate/asset held for sale (Note 14) – (4,177,630)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred tax benefi ts arising from 
 disposal of associate/asset held for sale (Note 14) (2,224,481) –
Recognition of previously unrecognised deferred tax benefi ts arising from 
 disposal of associate/asset held for sale (Note 14) (1,369,939) –
Eff ect of diff erent tax rates of overseas operations (642,805) 956,947
Underprovision of current income tax in prior fi nancial years – 14,708
Withholding tax 831,455 2,010,864
Income tax expense for the fi nancial year 2,640,893 7,043,311



70

Notes to The Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017

9. Earnings per share

 The calculation for basic earnings per share is based on the profi t for the fi nancial year attributable to 
owners of the parent divided by the number of ordinary shares.

Group
2017 2016

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on:
Profi t for the fi nancial year attributable to owners of the parent (RMB) 25,677,483 40,926,953

Number of ordinary shares* 70,319,164 70,319,164

Earnings per share (RMB cents)
- Basic and diluted earnings per share (adjusted based on the total 
 issued shares of 70,319,164 after share consolidation) 36.52 58.20

 * The Company consolidated 4 existing ordinary shares into 1 new ordinary share on 29 February 2016.

 As the Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares, the diluted earnings per share are equivalent 
to basic earnings per share.
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10. Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Furniture,
fi xture and
equipment

RMB

Company
Cost
Balance as at 1.1.2017 and 31.12.2017 28,074

Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at 1.1.2017 and 31.12.2017 28,074

Carrying amount
Balance as at 31.12.2017 –

Cost
Balance as at 1.1.2016 and 31.12.2016 28,074

Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at 1.1.2016 and 31.12.2016 28,074

Carrying amount
Balance as at 31.12.2016 –

 During the fi nancial year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment which were fi nanced as 
follows:

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Additions to property, plant and equipment 126,447,183 100,869,060
Trade payables (23,753,922) (11,383,424)
Cash payments to acquire property, plant and equipment 102,693,261 89,485,636

 The Group has pledged buildings and plant and machinery having carrying amounts of RMB100,287,054 
(2016: RMB118,627,759) and RMB93,825,981 (2016: RMB23,481,013) respectively to secure banking 
facilities granted to the Group (Note 23).
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11. Investment property

Group
RMB

Cost
Balance as at 1.1.2017 and 31.12.2017 732,859

Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at 1.1.2017 262,898
Depreciation for the fi nancial year 17,406
Balance as at 31.12.2017 280,304

Carrying amount
Balance as at 31.12.2017 452,555

Cost
Balance as at 1.1.2016 1,537,219
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (804,360)
Balance as at 31.12.2016 732,859

Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at 1.1.2016 469,654
Depreciation for the fi nancial year 17,406
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (224,162)
Balance as at 31.12.2016 262,898

Carrying amount
Balance as at 31.12.2016 469,961

 The investment property relates to a 308 sqm (2016: 308 sqm) offi  ce premise located at No. 9 Foping 
Four Road, Sixth fl oor, Gui Cheng, Nanhai, Foshan City, Guangdong 528251, People’s Republic of China.

 
 The rental income from the Group’s investment property which is leased out under operating leases, 

amounted to RMB137,143 (2016: RMB137,143). Direct operating expenses (including repairs and 
maintenance) arising from the rental-generating investment property amounted to RMB24,302 (2016: 
RMB24,302).

 The Group’s investment property has been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group 
(Note 23).

 Depreciation of investment property is included in “Administrative expenses” line item of profi t or loss.
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12. Investments in subsidiaries

Company
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Unquoted equity contribution/shares, at cost 456,236,365 441,050,108
Deemed investment arising from the issuance of fi nancial guarantees 9,696,560 8,262,633

465,932,925 449,312,741

 The deemed investment pertains to the fair value of financial guarantee contracts in respect of 
corporate guarantees granted by the Company for bank loans obtained by certain subsidiaries 
(Note 23).

 Details of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Country of
incorporation

(or registration)
and place of 

business

Eff ective equity 
interest held by

the Group Principal activities
2017 2016

% %

Foshan Nanxin 
Packaging Co., Ltd.(1)

People’s Republic
of China

100 100 Trading and manufacturing of 
packaging products for foodstuff , 
medical and cosmetic industries 
and engaged in sub-contract 
processing business

Foshan Southern 
Packaging Co., Ltd.(1)

People’s Republic
of China

100 100 Trading and manufacturing of 
packaging products for foodstuff , 
medical and cosmetic products

Southern Packaging 
(Jiangsu) Co., Ltd.(1)

People’s Republic
of China

100 100 Trading and manufacturing of 
packaging products for foodstuff , 
medical and cosmetic products

Southern (HK) 
Packaging Company 
Limited(2)(3)

Hong Kong 100 100 Trading of packaging products for 
foodstuff , medical and cosmetic 
products

 (1) Audited by BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certifi ed Public Accountants LLP, a member fi rm of BDO International Limited.

 (2) Audited by BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certifi ed Public Accountants LLP, a member fi rm of BDO International Limited for 
consolidation purpose.

 (3) The statutory fi nancial statements prepared in accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles in Hong 
Kong, were audited by 嘉达会计师事务所 (Katax C.P.A. Limited) for tax fi ling and annual registration.
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12. Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

 Increase in investments in subsidiaries

 During the financial year, the Company injected additional capital by way of reinvesting part of 
dividends declared from its subsidiaries as registered and paid-up capital in the following wholly-owned 
subsidiaries:

Company
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Southern Packaging (Jiangsu) Co., Ltd. 15,186,257 25,524,874
Foshan Southern Packaging Co., Ltd. – 7,890,420

15,186,257 33,415,294

 Signifi cant restrictions

 As at 31 December 2017, cash and bank balances and fi xed deposits totalling RMB115,978,503 (2016: 
RMB103,633,183) held in People’s Republic of China are subject to local exchange control regulations. 
These regulations place restrictions on exporting capital out of the country other than through dividends 
and thus signifi cantly aff ect the Company’s ability to access or use assets, and settle liabilities, of the 
Group.

13. Prepaid lease payments

Group
RMB

Balance as at 1.1.2017
Cost 70,325,827
Accumulated amortisation (9,838,515)
Carrying amount 60,487,312

Financial year ended 31.12.2017
Carrying amount as at 1.1.2017 60,487,312
Amortisation for the fi nancial year (1,438,175)
Balance as at 31.12.2017 59,049,137

Balance as at 31.12.2017
Cost 70,325,827
Accumulated amortisation (11,276,690)
Carrying amount 59,049,137
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13. Prepaid lease payments (Continued)

Group
RMB

Balance as at 1.1.2016
Cost 73,205,933
Accumulated amortisation (8,349,482)
Carrying amount 64,856,451

Financial year ended 31.12.2016
Carrying amount as at 1.1.2016 64,856,451
Disposal (2,880,107)
Amortisation for the fi nancial year (1,489,032)
Balance as at 31.12.2016 60,487,312

Balance as at 31.12.2016
Cost 70,325,827
Accumulated amortisation (9,838,515)
Carrying amount 60,487,312

 Prepaid lease payments represent land use rights held by subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China.

 Prepaid lease payments are amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease terms of 40 to 50 years 
(ranging between 1999 to 2064) as stated in the relevant land use right certifi cates granted for usage by 
the respective subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China.

 The Group has pledged certain of its land use rights with carrying amount of RMB41,722,783 (2016: 
RMB42,690,491) to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (Note 23).

 Amortisation expenses have been included in “Administrative expenses” line item of profi t or loss.

 Land use rights of Nanhai District of Foshan City, Guicheng Street, Sanshan Creative Industry Park, 
SS-D04 block (“Sanshan land use rights”)

 Included in the prepaid lease payments as at 31 December 2017 is a carrying amount of RMB16.14 
million (2016: RMB16.50 million) relating to the San Shan land use rights.

 On 10 October 2012, the Group, via its subsidiary, Foshan Southern Packaging Co., Ltd (“FSP”) entered 
into an agreement with the Guangdong Foshan Municipal Bureau of Land Resources and Rural Planning 
Bureau (hereinafter referred to as “Bureau”) to acquire the San Shan land use rights at a sale price of 
RMB17.47 million (of which the deposit was RMB3.5 million). The period of the land use rights is 50 
years.

 According to the agreement, FSP is required to:

 - by 8 November 2013, complete the design, submit construction report and related documents and 
commence offi  cial construction of property for industrial purposes; and

 - by 8 November 2015, complete all construction of property and submit construction completion 
verifi cation report and related documents for fi nal acceptance.
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13. Prepaid lease payments (Continued)

 It is stipulated in the agreement that if the lands are idle for two years and yet to commence 
construction, the Bureau has the rights to recover the land use rights without any compensation.

 If FSP is not able to comply with the stipulated dates in the agreement or the agreed extended dates 
(be it the construction commencement date or construction completion date), it will need to pay to the 
Bureau 0.03% of the acquisition price per day of delay as liquidated damages.

 According to a supplementary agreement signed between FSP and the Bureau on 6 December 2016, the 
date of commencement was changed to 18 October 2017 and the date of completion was changed to 18 
October 2019.

 Management has completed the project design and has submitted the applications for “construction 
land planning permit” and “construction project planning permit” in mid February 2018. The applications 
are currently under review by the authorities. The entire construction process is estimated to complete 
within 1.5 to 2 years. Sale is estimated to commence within 1.5 years from the commencement of 
construction. 

 Contingent liability

 Management has estimated the liquidated damages to be approximately RMB1.724 million. As at 
the date of the fi nancial statements, no impairment loss on San Shan land use rights or provision for 
liquidated damages was recognised for the delay in the date of commencement and estimated date of 
completion of the project as the management is of the opinion that: 

 - Based on management’s understanding of the past practices of the Bureau and authorities 
in Foshan, there is no historical instance where the Bureau and the authorities in Foshan 
have recovered land use rights granted previously or issued penalties on non-compliance of 
commencement and completion dates; and 

 - The Group has not received any correspondences from the authorities on the liquidated 
damages for non-compliance of the commencement deadline. In addition, the project is currently 
progressing in accordance with the planned timeline. 
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14. Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

 The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group, and the 
movements thereon, during the current and prior fi nancial years:

Provisions

Deferred
government

subsidies

Undistributed 
earnings of 
subsidiaries

Prepaid 
lease 

payments Tax losses* Total
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB

Group
Balance as at 1.1.2017 1,266,155 3,709,484 (1,000,000) (4,125,631) – (149,992)
(Charged)/Credited 
 to profi t or loss (875,347) (1,598,958) – 1,704,264 1,369,939 599,898
Balance as at 31.12.2017 390,808 2,110,526 (1,000,000) (2,421,367) 1,369,939 449,906

Balance as at 1.1.2016 937,515 2,963,759 (1,000,000) (4,215,650) – (1,314,376)
Credited to profi t or loss 328,640 745,725 – 90,019 – 1,164,384
Balance as at 31.12.2016 1,266,155 3,709,484 (1,000,000) (4,125,631) – (149,992)

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities are off set in accordance with the accounting policy as stated in Note 
2.10 to the fi nancial statements. 

Disclosed as:

RMB

2017
Deferred tax assets 1,449,906
Deferred tax liabilities (1,000,000)

449,906

2016
Deferred tax assets 2,163,147
Deferred tax liabilities (2,313,139)

149,992

 *  This relates to tax deduction totalling RMB7.77 million on cumulative losses of RMB51.8 million arising from the 
disposal of associate/asset held for sale in the previous fi nancial year, of which RMB27.84 million was off set against 
2016’s profi ts and RMB14.83 million was off set against current fi nancial year’s profi ts, leaving a remaining amount of 
RMB9.13 million (giving rise to deferred tax asset of RMB1.37 million as at 31 December 2017) which is available for 
off set against future taxable profi ts subject to agreement by the tax authorities and provisions of tax legislations of 
the People’s Republic of China. These tax losses expire in 2020.
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14. Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (Continued)

 Deferred tax liabilities arise from the aggregate amount of temporary diff erences associated with 
undistributed earnings of certain subsidiaries for which is estimated by the management to be 
distributed in the future. 

 As at 31 December 2017, total unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of 
China amounted to RMB102,213,000 (2016: RMB107,501,000). Management estimates that not more 
than 20% of these unremitted earnings will be distributed as dividends in the foreseeable future. Hence, 
as at 31 December 2017, a deferred tax liability of RMB1,000,000 (2016: RMB1,000,000) was recognised 
on the withholding tax and other taxation that would be payable. No deferred tax liability was 
recognised on unremitted earnings amounting to RMB81,770,000 (2016: RMB86,000,000) as the Group is 
in a position to control the dividend policies of these subsidiaries and it is probable that these earnings 
will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

15. Inventories

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Raw materials and consumables 40,542,914 35,573,154
Work in progress 10,167,566 6,032,918
Finished goods 24,459,921 30,831,289

75,170,401 72,437,361

 During the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2017, the Group carried out a review of the realisable 
values of its inventories and recognised a reversal of RMB745,227 being part of an inventory write-down 
made in the previous fi nancial years. The reversal was a result of inventories being sold above their 
carrying amount in the current fi nancial year. 

 During the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2016, the Group recognised a write-down of inventories 
amounting to RMB20,210 as the management had reviewed and identifi ed these inventories as obsolete. 

 These amounts have been included in “cost of sales” in profi t or loss. 

16. Trade receivables

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Trade receivables
- third parties 143,893,590 129,360,742
- a related party 3,019,720 88,035

146,913,310 129,448,777
Bills receivables 23,542,142 29,124,611

170,455,452 158,573,388
Less: Allowance for impairment of trade receivables – third parties (1,304,928) (3,050,773)

169,150,524 155,522,615



81

Notes to The Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017

16. Trade receivables (Continued)

 The average credit period on sales of goods is 60 days. No interest is charged on outstanding trade 
receivables. Bills receivables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and recoverable within 60 to 180 days.

 The Group has provided fully for all receivables over 3 years because historical experience is such that 
receivables that are past due beyond 3 years are generally not recoverable. Allowances for impairment 
of trade receivables between 181 days and 2 years are provided for based on ongoing evaluation of 
collectability and aging analysis of individual receivables by reference to their past default experience.

 Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and 
defi nes credit limit by customer.

 Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired relate to customers that the Group has 
assessed to be creditworthy, based on the credit evaluation process performed by management.

 Included in the Group’s trade receivables are debtors with a carrying amount of RMB13,643,443 (2016: 
RMB10,022,656) which are past due at the end of the fi nancial year for which the Group has not 
provided for impairment. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

 In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit 
quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the fi nancial 
year.  Management is of the opinion that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the 
allowance for impairment as the debtors are assessed to be creditworthy, based on the credit evaluation 
process performed by management.

 The table below is an analysis of trade receivables as at the end of the fi nancial year:

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Not past due and not impaired 155,507,081 145,499,959
Past due but not impaired (i) 13,643,443 10,022,656
Impaired receivables 1,304,928 3,050,773
Less: Allowance for impairment of trade receivables (1,304,928) (3,050,773)

169,150,524 155,522,615

 (i) Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired:

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

<90 days 9,260,023 6,103,373
91 to 180 days 4,275,543 3,919,283
181 to 365 days 11,993 –
>365 days 95,884 –

13,643,443 10,022,656
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16. Trade receivables (Continued)

 Movements in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables were as follows:

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Balance as at the beginning of the fi nancial year 3,050,773 1,725,612
(Write-back)/Allowance recognised in profi t or loss (1,714,002) 1,298,810
Allowance written off  against receivables – (4,460)
Currency translation diff erences (31,843) 30,811
Balance as at the end of the fi nancial year 1,304,928 3,050,773

 During the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2017, the Group recognised a reversal of impairment of 
trade receivables amounting to RMB1,714,002 as there were collections received from the customers on 
which impairment was previously provided for.

 The Group’s trade receivables that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective 
entities are as follows:

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Denominated in:
United States dollar 9,623,011 7,694,726

17. Other receivables and prepayments

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
RMB RMB RMB RMB

Other receivables
- third parties 4,488,042 5,463,486 14,649 14,399
- subsidiaries – – 1,290,104 678,810

4,488,042 5,463,486 1,304,753 693,209
Advances to suppliers 22,065,833 32,512,800 – –
Prepayments for construction in progress 640,612 1,335,764 – –
Prepayments 753,027 2,535,957 – –
Other receivables and prepayments 27,947,514 41,848,007 1,304,753 693,209
Add: Trade receivables 169,150,524 155,522,615 – –
Add: Cash and bank balances 115,380,923 106,690,487 535,566 1,305,318
Add: Fixed deposits 13,998,721 7,902,619 – –
Less: Prepayments for construction in 
progress (640,612) (1,335,764) – –
Less: Prepayments (753,027) (2,535,957) – –
Less: Advances to suppliers (22,065,833) (32,512,800) – –
Loans and receivables 303,018,210 275,579,207 1,840,319 1,998,527
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17. Other receivables and prepayments (Continued)

 The balances due from the subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

 The advances to suppliers are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are expected to be utilised within 
twelve months from the end of the fi nancial year.

 In determining the recoverability of other receivables, the management considers changes in the credit 
quality of the other receivables. Management is of the opinion that there is no credit provision required 
as the debtors are assessed to be creditworthy, based on the credit evaluation process performed by 
management.

 The Group’s and Company’s other receivables and prepayments (excluding prepayments and advances 
to suppliers) that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities are as 
follows:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
RMB RMB RMB RMB

Denominated in:
Singapore dollar 14,649 14,399 14,649 14,399
Japanese yen – 145,402 – –

18. Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
RMB RMB RMB RMB

Cash and bank balances 115,380,923 106,690,487 535,566 1,305,318
Fixed deposits (Note 19) 13,998,721 7,902,619 – –

129,379,644 114,593,106 535,566 1,305,318
Less: Fixed deposits pledged (13,041,806) (7,902,619) – –
Cash and cash equivalents as shown in the 

consolidated statement of cash fl ows 116,337,838 106,690,487 535,566 1,305,318
 

 Cash at bank earns interest of 0.30% (2016: 0.30%) per annum.
 
 The Group’s cash and bank balances that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the 

respective entities are as follows:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
RMB RMB RMB RMB

Denominated in:
Euro 62,946 61,883 – –
United States dollar 12,215,507 12,321,324 78,024 82,792
Hong Kong dollar 214,819 138,140 74,570 75,280
Singapore dollar 382,972 1,147,246 382,972 1,147,246
Japanese yen 2 2 – –
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19. Fixed deposits

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
RMB RMB RMB RMB

Fixed deposits 956,915 – – –
Fixed deposits pledged 13,041,806 7,902,619 – –

13,998,721 7,902,619 – –

 The Group has pledged fi xed deposits of RMB13,041,806 (2016: RMB7,902,619) to secure short-term 
bank borrowings. The fi xed deposits earn interest of 1.1% to 1.35% (2016: 1.35%) per annum and for a 
tenure of approximately 90 days.

 Fixed deposits are denominated in Chinese renminbi.

20. Share capital

Group and Company
2017 2016 2017 2016

Number of
ordinary shares RMB RMB

Issued and paid up
Balance as at the beginning of the fi nancial 

year 70,319,164 281,276,826 230,592,765 230,592,765
Share consolidation – (210,957,662) – –
Balance as at the end of the fi nancial year 70,319,164 70,319,164 230,592,765 230,592,765

 The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carries no right to fi xed income. The holders of 
ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary 
shares have no par value and carry one vote per share without restriction.

 On 29 February 2016, the Company completed a share consolidation to meet the minimum trading 
price requirement, as required by the Monetary Authority of Singapore and the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited, and every four (4) existing issued ordinary shares registered in the name of 
each shareholder has been consolidated to constitute one (1) consolidated share.

21. Reserves

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Capital contribution 12,638,812 12,638,812
Statutory reserve 56,292,235 55,313,017
Foreign currency translation account (3,112,168) (2,055,776)

65,818,879 65,896,053
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21. Reserves (Continued)

 Capital contribution

 Capital contribution represents contribution from a controlling shareholder in connection with the 
acquisition of an associate.

 In 2010, the capital contribution arising from the acquisition of an associate from a controlling 
shareholder represents the excess fair value of the net assets acquired over the consideration paid. The 
contribution is recorded as a capital contribution to the Group. The management has considered that 
it has been the shareholder’s intention for the excess fair value to be a gift to the Group, and hence, 
management is satisfi ed that this excess fair value acquired represents a capital contribution to the 
Group by the controlling shareholder.

 In 2011, the capital contribution arising from the sale of land by an associate to a controlling shareholder 
represents the excess of the consideration received over the fair value of the net assets disposed. The 
contribution is recorded as a capital contribution to the Group. The management has considered that it 
has been the shareholder’s intention for the excess consideration to be a gift to the Group, and hence, 
management is satisfi ed that this excess consideration represents a capital contribution to the Group by 
the controlling shareholder.

 Statutory reserve

 In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic of China, the subsidiaries 
established in the People’s Republic of China are required to transfer 10% of its profi ts after income 
tax determined in accordance with the accounting regulations in the People’s Republic of China to 
the statutory reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the respective registered capital of the 
People’s Republic of China subsidiaries. Such reserve may be used to reduce any losses incurred or for 
capitalisation as paid-up capital of the People’s Republic of China subsidiaries. The statutory reserve is 
not available for distribution. 

 Foreign currency translation account

 The foreign currency translation account comprises foreign exchange diff erences arising from the 
translation of the fi nancial statements of the foreign operation of the Group whose functional currency 
is diff erent from the Group’s presentation currency.

22. Deferred government subsidies

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Balance as at the beginning of the fi nancial year 14,837,935 11,855,035
Additions – 3,543,936
Recognised as income during the fi nancial year (Note 5) (767,765) (561,036)
Balance as at the end of the fi nancial year 14,070,170 14,837,935
Portion classifi ed as current liabilities (915,430) (561,035)
Portion classifi ed as non-current liabilities 13,154,740 14,276,900

 The Group received subsidies from the People’s Republic of China government for the purchase of 
land use rights and plant and machinery. The subsidies are recognised over the duration of the useful 
lives of the land use rights and plant and machinery. The carrying amounts of the subsidies as at 
31 December 2017 for the purchase of land use rights and plant and machinery were RMB6,045,114 
(2016: RMB6,185,348) and RMB8,025,056 (2016: RMB8,652,587) respectively.
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23. Bank borrowings

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Bank borrowings
- Bank A 50,000,000 41,000,000
- Bank B 113,797,500 114,395,000
- Bank C – 15,000,000
- Bank D 46,066,273 16,584,425
- Bank E 3,167,354 6,066,713
- Bank F 14,960,000 3,000,000
- Bank G – 20,000,000
- Bank H 28,171,031 9,885,000
- Bank I 20,000,000 –
- Bank J 5,414,523 –

281,576,681 225,931,138
Less: Amounts due for settlement within 12 months (shown under 

current liabilities) (184,142,991) (167,034,638)
Amounts due for settlement after 12 months 97,433,690 58,896,500

 The bank borrowings have average eff ective interest rates ranging from 2.32% to 7.36% (2016: 2.20% 
to 7.36%) per annum with maturity dates ranging from 2 January 2018 to 18 December 2020 (2016: 21 
January 2017 to 29 November 2019).

 Bank borrowings of RMB171.8 million (2016: RMB129.9 million) are arranged at fi xed interest rates 
ranging from 2.32% to 6.175% (2016: 2.20% to 5.66%) per annum and expose the Group to fair value 
interest rate risk. Other borrowings of RMB109.8 million (2016: RMB96 million) are arranged at fl oating 
rates based on prevailing interbank rate in the People’s Republic of China, thus exposing the Group to 
cash fl ow interest rate risk.

 The Group has borrowings from the various banks:

 a) Borrowings obtained from Bank A amounting to RMB50 million (2016: RMB41 million) are secured 
by a charge over certain of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, prepaid lease payments, 
investment property and supported by individual guarantee by a Director/shareholder of the 
Company and a subsidiary.

 b) Borrowings obtained from Bank B amounting to approximately RMB113.8 million (2016: RMB114.4 
million) are secured by a charge over certain of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, 
prepaid lease payments, pledged fi xed deposits and supported by a corporate guarantee by the 
Company.

 c) Borrowings obtained from Bank C amounting to Nil (2016: RMB15 million) are supported by a 
corporate guarantee by the Company.

 d) Borrowings obtained from Bank D amounting to RMB16.8 million (2016: RMB16.6 million) are 
secured by a charge over certain of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, pledged fi xed 
deposits and supported by a corporate guarantee by the Company. The remaining borrowings 
obtained from Bank D amounting to RMB29.3 million (2016: Nil) are secured by a charge over 
certain of the Group’s property, plant and equipment.

 e) Borrowings obtained from Bank E amounting to approximately RMB3.2 million (2016: RMB6.1 
million) are supported by a corporate guarantee by the Company.
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23. Bank borrowings (Continued)

 The Group has borrowings from the various banks: (Continued)

 f) Borrowings obtained from Bank F amounting to approximately RMB15 million (2016: RMB3 
million) are secured by a charge over the Group’s pledged fi xed deposits and supported by a 
corporate guarantee by the Company.

 g) Borrowings obtained from Bank G amounting to Nil (2016: RMB20 million) are secured by a charge 
over certain of the Group’s prepaid lease payments.

 h) Borrowings obtained from Bank H amounting to approximately RMB18 million (2016: RMB9.9 
million) are secured by a charge over certain of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, 
prepaid lease payments, pledged fi xed deposits and supported by a corporate guarantee by the 
Company. The remaining borrowings obtained from Bank H amounting to RMB10.2 million (2016: 
Nil) are secured by a charge over certain of the Group’s property, plant and equipment.

 i) Borrowings obtained from Bank I amounting to approximately RMB20 million (2016: Nil) are 
secured by a charge over certain of the Group’s prepaid lease payments.

 j) Borrowings obtained from Bank J amounting to approximately RMB5.4 million (2016: Nil) are 
supported by a corporate guarantee by the Company.

 The Group’s bank borrowings that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective 
entities are as follows:

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Denominated in:
United States dollar 8,581,877 6,066,713
Japanese yen 4,409,610 4,090,326

24. Trade payables

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Third parties 120,305,915 103,952,721

 The average credit period on purchases of goods is 3 months.

 The Group’s trade payables that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective 
entities are as follows:

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Denominated in:
Euro 141,777 132,773
Japanese yen 571,884 -
United States dollar 5,836,218 4,822,395
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25. Other payables

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
RMB RMB RMB RMB

Other payables
- third parties 4,578,096 3,432,297 – –
- a related party 2,332,575 2,332,575 – –
- subsidiaries – – 9,984,937 3,196,879

6,910,671 5,764,872 9,984,937 3,196,879
Financial guarantee contracts – – 1,489,345 1,789,110
Accrued expenses 18,533,075 17,384,800 2,566,945 2,644,127
Customers advances 7,151,776 4,915,675 – –
Other payables 32,595,522 28,065,347 14,041,227 7,630,116
Add: Trade payables 120,305,915 103,952,721 – –
Add: Bank borrowings 281,576,681 225,931,138 – –
Less: Customers advances (7,151,776) (4,915,675) – –
Other fi nancial liabilities at amortised cost 427,326,342 353,033,531 14,041,227 7,630,116

 Other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for non-trade purchases and operating costs.

 The balance due to a related party, which is a company controlled by two Directors of the Company, is 
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

 The balances due to subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

 The Company provides fi nancial guarantees amounting to RMB172.1 million (2016: RMB177.0 million) in 
respect of banking facilities obtained by its subsidiaries.

 The customers advances represent deposits for goods ordered and are unsecured, non-interest bearing 
and expected to be utilised within 12 months after the end of the fi nancial year.

 The Group’s and Company’s other payables that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the 
respective entities are as follows:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
RMB RMB RMB RMB

Denominated in:
Hong Kong dollar – – 9,605,286 2,817,229
Singapore dollar 4,056,290 4,433,236 4,056,290 4,433,236
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26. Operating lease commitments

 The Group as lessee

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as expense 
during the fi nancial year 2,190,952 1,881,971

 At the end of the fi nancial year, the Group has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases for the rental of factory space/offi  ce premises/sales offi  ces, which fall due as follows:

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Not later than one year 2,658,608 2,505,563
Later than one year and not later than fi ve years 2,484,523 –

5,143,131 2,505,563

 Leases are negotiated and rentals are fi xed for an average term of 1 to 5 years (2016: 1 to 2 years).

 The Group as lessor

 The Group rents out its investment property and offi  ce premises in the People’s Republic of China 
under operating leases. Property rental income earned during the fi nancial year was RMB311,771 (2016: 
RMB460,849). Leases are negotiated and rentals are fi xed for an average term of 1 to 3 years (2016: 1 to 
3 years).

 At the end of the fi nancial year, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum 
lease payments:

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Not later than one year 164,286 254,286
Later than one year and not later than fi ve years 9,524 125,714

173,810 380,000

27. Capital commitments

 As at the end of the fi nancial year, commitments in respect of capital expenditure are as follows:

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Capital expenditure contracted but not provided for
- Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment 6,604,073 8,953,701
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28. Dividends

Company
2017 2016
RMB RMB

Final tax-exempt dividends of S$0.012 per ordinary share in respect of the 
fi nancial year ended 31 December 2016 4,167,676 –

Final tax-exempt dividends of S$0.012 per ordinary share in respect of the 
fi nancial year ended 31 December 2015 – 4,059,328

4,167,676 4,059,328

 The Board of Directors propose a fi nal tax-exempt dividend of S$0.0036 per ordinary share, totalling 
approximately S$253,149 (equivalent to approximately RMB1,236,152) in respect of the fi nancial year 
ended 31 December 2017. The dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting and has not been included as a liability in these fi nancial statements.

29. Segment information

 The operating segments are identifi ed on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group 
that are regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision maker, in order to allocate resources 
to segments and to assess the segment performance.

 The Group’s reportable segments under FRS 108 are therefore as follows:

  Flexible packaging segment mainly manufactures plastic packaging bags with design supplied by 
the customers for the pharmaceutical industry, food and beverage industry and hygiene industry.

  Rigid packaging segment mainly manufactures polythylene terephthalate (“PET”) bottles together 
with printing of design onto the bottle for pharmaceutical industry, food and beverage industry 
and hygiene industry.

 The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies 
described in Note 2. Segment revenue represents revenue generated from external customers. Segment 
results include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis. Unallocated items mainly comprise of corporate income and expenses. This is the 
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and 
assessment of segment performance.

 For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the 
chief operating decision-maker monitors the tangible and fi nancial assets attributable to each segment.

 Segment assets

 Other than cash and bank balances, fi xed deposits, prepaid lease payments, trade receivable - a related 
party, investment property and deferred tax assets, all assets are allocated to reportable segments. 
Assets used jointly by reportable segments are allocated on the basis of the revenues earned by 
individual reportable segments.
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29. Segment information (Continued)

 Segment liabilities

 Other than bank borrowings, current income tax payable, deferred government subsidies, other 
payables – a related party and deferred tax liabilities, all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments. 
Liabilities related to reportable segments are allocated on the basis of the cost of sales of individual 
reportable segments.

 Information regarding the Group’s reportable segment is presented below.

 Segment revenue, results and assets

Rigid packaging Flexible packaging Consolidated
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB

Group
Revenue
External sales 427,878,428 369,761,865 295,136,596 280,738,608 723,015,024 650,500,473

Results
Segment gross profi ts 104,580,992 98,271,718 58,078,028 76,027,133 162,659,020 174,298,851
Allocated expense (71,955,963) (64,696,551) (46,262,609) (44,968,878) (118,218,572) (109,665,429)
Allocated income 3,946,481 3,701,985 3,172,394 2,947,419 7,118,875 6,649,404
Segment result 36,571,510 37,277,152 14,987,813 34,005,674 51,559,323 71,282,826
Unallocated expenses (10,936,548) (12,125,452)
Unallocated income 852,537 481,917
Interest income 532,675 664,022
Interest expense (13,689,611) (12,333,049)
Profi t before income tax 28,318,376 47,970,264
Income tax expense (2,640,893) (7,043,311)
Profi t for the fi nancial year 

attributable to owners of the 
parent 25,677,483 40,926,953

Assets
Segment assets 539,764,836 527,594,567 266,120,888 204,533,612 805,885,724 732,128,179
Unallocated corporate assets 193,365,611 177,927,898
Consolidated total assets 999,251,335 910,056,077

Liabilities
Segment liabilities 84,306,796 69,659,393 62,976,242 57,211,646 147,283,038 126,871,039
Unallocated corporate liabilities 302,403,271 254,073,427
Consolidated total liabilities 449,686,309 380,944,466
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29. Segment information (Continued)

 Other segment information

Additions to
non-current assets

Depreciation and
amortisation

2017 2016 2017 2016
RMB RMB RMB RMB

Rigid packaging 115,056,618 62,906,405 32,061,629 28,312,328
Flexible packaging 14,737,236 37,962,655 18,371,332 18,318,332
Unallocated segments – – 1,455,581 1,506,438

129,793,854 100,869,060 51,888,542 48,137,098

 Revenue from major products and services

 Revenue from external customers is derived mainly from the sale of packaging products.

 Geographical information

 The Group’s operations, including the manufacturing of products are carried out in the People’s Republic 
of China.

 The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its segment assets (non-current 
assets excluding deferred tax assets) by geographical location of the customers and location of the 
assets are presented below:

Revenue Non-current assets
2017 2016 2017 2016
RMB RMB RMB RMB

People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) 667,709,494 599,790,832 596,153,346 523,491,841
Europe 4,935,180 5,219,386 – –
Hong Kong, PRC 19,736,722 9,856,168 – –
America 6,376,334 13,303,062 – –
Australia 6,628,148 – –
Other Asia region excluding PRC 17,629,146 22,331,025 – –

723,015,024 650,500,473 596,153,346 523,491,841

 Information about major customers

 Included in revenue arising from rigid packaging and fl exible packaging are revenues of RMB130,004,499 
(2016: RMB130,178,524) and RMB12,823,692 (2016: RMB12,995,129) respectively which arose from sales 
to the Group’s largest customer.
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30. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks

 The management of the Group monitors and manages the fi nancial risks relating to the operations of 
the Group to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and eff ective manner. These 
risks include market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

 The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the objectives and underlying principles of fi nancial risk 
management for the Group. The Group’s management then establishes the detailed policies such as 
authority levels, oversight responsibilities, risk identifi cation and measurement and exposure limits, in 
accordance with the objectives and underlying principles approved by the Board of Directors.

 There has been no changes to the Group’s exposure to these fi nancial risks or the manner in which 
they manage and measure the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis as 
indicated below.

 (i) Credit risk

  Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting 
in fi nancial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties and obtaining customer advances where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the 
risk of fi nancial loss from defaults.

  Concentrations of credit risk exist when changes in economic, industry or geographic factors 
similarly aff ect groups of counterparties where aggregate credit exposure is signifi cant in relation 
to the Group’s total credit exposure.

  As at the end of the fi nancial year, approximately 20% (2016: 19%) of the Group’s trade receivable 
from third parties were due from 3 (2016: 3) customers.

  The Group’s and Company’s major classes of fi nancial assets are cash and bank balances, fi xed 
deposits and trade and other receivables.

  The Group’s and Company’s cash and bank balances and fi xed deposits are held with reputable 
fi nancial institutions.

  Further details of credit risk on trade and other receivables are disclosed in Notes 16 and 17.

 (ii) Market risks

  The Group’s activities are exposed primarily to the fi nancial risks of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates and interest rates. Management monitors risks associated with changes in foreign 
currency exchanges rates and interest rates and will consider appropriate measures should the 
need arises.

  The Group does not hold or issue derivative fi nancial instruments for speculative purposes.

  There has been no signifi cant change to the Group’s exposure to market risk or the manner in 
which it manages and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity 
analysis indicated below.
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30. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 (ii) Market risks (Continued)

  Foreign exchange risk

  The Group transacts businesses in various currencies, including the Euro, United States dollar 
(“US$”), Japanese yen (“JPY”), Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”) and Singapore dollar (“S$”), and therefore is 
exposed to foreign exchange risk.

  At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary 
liabilities denominated in currencies other than the respective group entities’ functional currencies 
are as follows:

Group Company
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB

Euro 70,935 61,883 145,658 132,773 – – – –
US$ 99,725,995 20,016,050 92,613,261 10,889,108 78,024 82,792 – –
JPY 2 145,404 4,981,494 4,090,326 – – – –
HK$ 214,819 138,140 9,605,286 2,817,229 74,570 75,280 9,605,286 2,817,229
S$ 397,621 1,161,645 4,056,290 4,433,236 397,621 1,161,645 4,056,290 4,433,236

  The Company has investments in foreign subsidiaries, whose net assets are exposed to 
foreign currency translation risk. The Group does not currently designate its foreign currency 
denominated debt as a hedging instrument for the purpose of hedging the translation of its 
foreign operations.

  Foreign currency sensitivity

  The following table details the sensitivity to a 4% (2016: 7%) increase in Euro, US$, JPY, HK$ 
and S$ against RMB. 4% (2016: 7%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency 
risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the 
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding 
foreign currency denominated monetary items which are denominated in Euro, US$, JPY, HK$ and 
S$ and adjusts their translation at the end of the fi nancial year for an instantaneous 4% (2016: 7%) 
change in foreign currency rates, with all variables held constant. The sensitivity analysis includes 
external loans as well as loans to foreign operation where they gave rise to an impact on the 
Group’s profi t or loss.

  If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 4% (2016: 7%) against RMB, profi t before income 
tax will increase/(decrease) by:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
RMB RMB RMB RMB

Euro impact (2,989) (4,962) – –
US$ impact 284,509 638,886 3,121 5,795
JPY impact (199,260) (276,145) – –
HK$ impact (375,619) (187,536) (381,229) (191,936)
S$ impact (146,347) (229,011) (146,347) (229,011)
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30. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 (ii) Market risks (Continued)

  Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

  Foreign currency sensitivity (Continued)

  If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 4% (2016: 7%) against RMB, the eff ect on profi t before 
income tax will be vice versa.

  Interest rate risk

  The Group’s interest rate risks arise primarily from its cash and bank balances, fi xed deposits and 
bank borrowings. The Group borrows at fi xed and variable interest rates.

  The interest rates and terms of repayment of the Group’s interest-bearing fi nancial instruments 
are disclosed in Notes 18, 19 and 23.

  Interest rate sensitivity

  The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for 
the Group’s bank borrowings at the end of the fi nancial year and the stipulated change taking 
place at the beginning of the fi nancial year and held constant throughout the fi nancial year in the 
case of instruments that have variable interest rates. A 100 basis point (2016: 100 basis point) 
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management 
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in 
interest rates.

  If interest rates increase/decrease by an instantaneous 100 basis points (2016: 100 basis points) 
with all other variables held constant, the Group’s profi t/loss before income tax for the fi nancial 
year ended 31 December 2017 would have been lower/higher by approximately RMB719,744 
(2016: higher/lower by approximately RMB841,154) as a result of changes in interest rates on the 
variable rate bank borrowings.

  No sensitivity analysis is prepared on the cash and bank balances and fi xed deposits as the impact 
of the change in interest rates is not signifi cant.

  The Company’s profi t or loss is not aff ected by changes in interest rates as the Company does not 
have interest-bearing fi nancial assets and liabilities.

 (iii) Liquidity risk

  Liquidity risk refer to the risk in which the Group encounters diffi  culties in meeting its short-term 
obligations.

  In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and 
cash equivalents and bank borrowings deemed adequate by the management to fi nance the 
Group’s operations and mitigate the eff ects of fl uctuations in cash fl ows.
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30. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 (iii) Liquidity risk (Continued)

  The following table details the remaining contractual maturity for fi nancial liabilities. The table has 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash fl ows of fi nancial liabilities based on the earlier of 
the contractual date or when the Group and Company is expected to pay. The table includes both 
interest and principal cash fl ows.

Weighted
average
eff ective
interest

rate

On demand
or within 1

year

Within
2 to 5
years Total

% RMB RMB RMB

Group
2017
Trade payables – 120,305,915 – 120,305,915
Other payables* – 25,443,746 – 25,443,746
Bank borrowings, fi xed interest rate 5.0 151,577,684 28,514,433 180,092,117
Bank borrowings, variable interest 

rate 6.2 43,972,684 77,656,778 121,629,462
341,300,029 106,171,211 447,471,240

2016
Trade payables – 103,952,721 – 103,952,721
Other payables* – 23,149,672 – 23,149,672
Bank borrowings, fi xed interest rate 4.8 124,103,350 9,879,712 133,983,062
Bank borrowings, variable interest 

rate 5.2 51,460,373 57,841,220 109,301,593
302,666,116 67,720,932 370,387,048

Company
2017
Other payables** – 12,551,882 – 12,551,882
Financial guarantee contracts – 172,084,739 – 172,084,739

184,636,621 – 184,636,621
2016
Other payables** – 5,841,006 – 5,841,006
Financial guarantee contracts – 177,046,138 – 177,046,138

182,887,144 – 182,887,144

  * Excluding customers advances.

  ** Excluding fair value of fi nancial guarantee contracts.

  The maximum amount that the Company could be forced to settle under the fi nancial guarantee 
contract is approximately RMB172.1 million (2016: RMB177.0 million), if the full guaranteed 
amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. The earliest period that the guarantee 
could be called is within one year (2016: one year) from the end of the fi nancial year. Based on 
expectations at the end of the fi nancial year, the Group considers that it is more likely than not 
that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
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31. Fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities

 The carrying amounts of the Group and the Company’s current fi nancial assets and current fi nancial 
liabilities approximate their respective fair values as at the end of the reporting period due to the 
relatively short-term maturity of these fi nancial instruments.

 The fair values of the Group’s non-current financial liabilities in relation to bank borrowings 
approximates its carrying amount as these fi nancial instruments are at fl oating interest rates. For 
the fi xed rate non-current bank borrowings, the management estimates that the carrying amount 
approximate its fair value as the interest rate of the bank borrowings approximate the market lending 
rate for similar types of loan at the end of the reporting period. The carrying amount of current bank 
borrowings is a reasonable approximation of its fair value due to its relatively short-term maturity.

32. Capital management policies and objectives

 The Group and the Company manage their capital to ensure that the Group and the Company are able 
to continue as going concern and maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholders’ 
values.

 The management monitors capital based on a gearing ratio. The gearing ratio is calculated as net debt 
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as trade and other payables plus bank borrowings less 
cash and bank balances and fi xed deposits. Total capital is calculated as equity attributable to owners of 
the parent plus net debt.

 The management constantly reviews the capital structure to ensure that the Group and the Company 
are able to service any debt obligations (include principal repayment and interests) based on their 
operating cash fl ows. The Group’s and the Company’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the 
previous fi nancial year.

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
RMB RMB RMB RMB

Trade and other payables 152,901,437 132,018,068 14,041,227 7,630,116
Bank borrowings 281,576,681 225,931,138 – –
Less: Cash and bank balances (115,380,923) (106,690,487) (535,566) (1,305,318)
Less: Fixed deposits (13,998,721) (7,902,619) – –
Net debt 305,098,474 243,356,100 13,505,661 6,324,798
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 549,565,026 529,111,611 453,732,017 443,681,152
Total capital  854,663,500 772,467,711 467,237,678 450,005,950
Gearing ratio 36% 32% 3% 1%

 Subsidiaries of the Group established in the People’s Republic of China are required to contribute and 
maintain a non-distributable statutory reserve fund whose utilisation is subject to certain restrictions as 
set out in the relevant regulations in the People’s Republic of China as disclosed in Note 21.

 In addition to the above, the Group and the Company are in compliance with all externally imposed 
capital requirements in relation to fi nancial covenants on its borrowings for the fi nancial years ended 31 
December 2017 and 2016.
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33. Signifi cant related party transactions

 During the financial year, in addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in these financial 
statements, the Group entities entered into the following transactions with related parties at rates and 
terms agreed between the parties:

Group
2017 2016
RMB RMB

With certain Directors of the Company
Rental expense 664,820 646,128

With companies in which certain Directors have control
Rental expense 1,293,036 898,356
Sale of goods (5,992,860) (1,140,367)
Disposal of asset held for sale – (7,881,700)
Acquisition of offi  ce units – 19,997,226

 The outstanding balances as at 31 December with related parties are disclosed in Notes 16 and 25 and 
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand, unless otherwise stated.

 Certain bank borrowings (Note 23) are supported by individual guarantees given by a Director. No 
charge has been made for these guarantees.

 Compensation of Directors and key management personnel

 The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management during the fi nancial year were as 
follows:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
RMB RMB RMB RMB

Directors
- Short-term benefi ts 8,033,309 8,503,614 5,855,701 6,291,189
- Post-employment benefi ts 221,139 290,759 176,210 276,738
- Directors’ fees 795,081 591,938 603,081 591,938
Other key management personnel
- Short-term benefi ts 2,122,259 1,461,962 504,370 96,629
- Post-employment benefi ts 66,571 – 66,572 –

11,238,359 10,848,273 7,205,934 7,256,494

 The remuneration of Directors and key management personnel is determined by the Remuneration 
Committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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Issued and paid-up capital : SGD45,735,199.216
Class of share : Ordinary shares fully paid
Number of issued shares excluding treasury shares and 
subsidiary holdings

: 70,319,164

Number of treasury shares and subsidiary holdings : Nil 
Voting rights : One vote for each ordinary share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
NO. OF 

SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %

1  -  99 17 3.35 433 0.00
100  -  1,000 105 20.71 49,342 0.07
1,001 - 10,000 255 50.30 932,393 1.33
10,001  -  1,000,000 125 24.65 7,452,883 10.60
1,000,001 and above 5 0.99 61,884,113 88.00
TOTAL 507 100.00 70,319,164 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 

NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %

1 PAN SHUN MING 27,384,697 38.94
2 MAI SHUYING 17,925,265 25.49
3 JEN SHEK CHUEN 9,024,651 12.83
4 BERRY PLASTICS ASIA PTE. LTD. 5,825,000 8.28
5 DB NOMINEES (S) PTE LTD 1,724,500 2.45
6 PAN ZHAOJIN 816,000 1.16
7 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 603,402 0.86
8 LIM TCHEN NAN 387,500 0.55
9 DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 363,409 0.52
10 MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 352,500 0.50
11 HUANG BAOJIA 350,000 0.50
12 TAN SIEW KENG CHRISTINA 279,000 0.40
13 PU JINBO 182,954 0.26
14 HSU SHU HAO 168,000 0.24
15 ZHANG JIANLING 156,818 0.22
16 DONALD QUEK JEE KWEE 150,000 0.21
17 JENNIFER LEUNG MAN CHU 146,250 0.21
18 CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 103,678 0.15
19 TTH DEVELOPMENT PTE LTD 100,000 0.14
20 WOO KIM FONG 97,452 0.14

TOTAL 66,141,076 94.05
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS PER REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 19 MARCH 2018

NAME OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
DIRECT INTEREST DEEMED INTEREST

NO. OF SHARES % NO. OF SHARES %

Pan Shun Ming 27,384,697 38.94 17,925,265(1) 25.49
Mai Shuying 17,925,265 25.49 27,384,6972(2) 38.94
Pan Zhaojin 816,000 1.16 45,309,9623(3) 64.43
Jen Shek Chuen 9,024,651 12.83 – –
Berry Plastics Asia Pte. Ltd. 5,825,000 8.28 – –

Notes :-

(1) Deemed interest in the shares held by his spouse, Madam Mai Shuying.
(2) Deemed interest in the shares held by her spouse, Mr Pan Shun Ming.
(3) Deemed interest in the shares held by his parents, Mr Pan Shun Ming and Madam Mai Shuying.

To the best knowledge of the Company and based on the Shareholders’ Information provided to the Company 
as at 19 March 2018, approximately 13.02% of the issued and paid-up ordinary shares of the Company are 
held in the hands of the public as defi ned in the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (the “Listing Manual”). Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Southern Packaging Group Limited 
(the “Company”) (“AGM”) will be held at Indiana Room, Level 4, Raffl  es City Convention Centre, Fairmont 
Singapore and Swissotel The Stamford, 80 Bras Basah Road, Singapore 189560 on Thursday, 26 April 2018 at 
2.00 p.m., to transact the following businesses:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the fi nancial year ended 
31 December 2017 and the Directors’ Statement together with the Auditors’ Report.

Resolution 1

2. To declare a First and Final tax exempt (one-tier) Dividend of 0.36 Singapore cents 
(S$0.0036) per ordinary share for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2017.

Resolution 2

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$162,160 for the fi nancial year ended 
31 December 2017. (2016: S$123,000)

Resolution 3

4. To re-elect the following Directors who are retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 91 of 
the Company’s Constitution and being eligible, off er themselves for re-election:

a) Madam Mai Shuying (See Explanatory Note 1) Resolution 4

b) Mr Pu Jinbo (See Explanatory Note 2) Resolution 5

c) Mr Chung Tang Fong (See Explanatory Note 3) Resolution 6

d) Mr Chia Chor Leong (See Explanatory Note 4) Resolution 7

5. To re-appoint Messrs BDO LLP as the auditors of the Company and to authorise the 
Directors to fi x their remuneration.

Resolution 8

SPECIAL BUSINESS:

To consider and, if thought fi t, to pass, with or without modifi cations, the following as ordinary resolutions:

6. Authority to allot and issue shares 

I. “That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to:

 (i) allot and issue shares in the share capital of the Company (“Shares”) 
whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

 (ii) make or grant off ers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) 
that might or would require shares to be issued, including but not 
limited to, the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, 
debentures or other instruments convertible into shares,

 at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to 
such persons as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fi t; and 

II. (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to 
be in force) issue Shares in pursuance of any Instruments made or granted by 
the Directors while this Resolution was in force, 

Resolution 9
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provided that:

a) the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution 
(including Shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted 
pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 50% of the total number of issued 
Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) (as calculated 
in accordance with sub-paragraph (b) below), of which the aggregate number 
of Shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the 
Company (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or 
granted pursuant to this Resolution) shall not exceed 20% of the total number 
of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) (as 
calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (b) below);

b) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”)) for the purpose of determining 
the aggregate number of Shares (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of 
Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) that may be issued 
under sub-paragraph (a) above, the total number of issued Shares (excluding 
treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) shall be based on the total 
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if 
any) at the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

 (i) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible 
securities or shares options or vesting of share awards which are 
outstanding or subsisting at the time this Resolution is passed; and

 (ii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

c) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall 
comply with the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time 
being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST), 
all applicable requirements under the Companies Act (Chapter 50) and the 
Company’s Constitution for the time being; and

d) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the authority 
conferred by this Resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of 
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the 
next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, 
whichever is earlier.”

(See Explanatory Note 5)

7. Authority to issue shares at a discount 

“That subject to and pursuant to the share issue mandate in the Resolution 10 above 
being obtained, authority be and is hereby given to the Directors to issue new shares 
other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders of the Company at an issue price per 
new share which shall be determined by the Directors in their absolute discretion 
provided that such price shall not represent more than a 10 per cent discount for new 
shares to the weighted average price per share determined in accordance with the 
requirements of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST”.

(See Explanatory Note 6)

Resolution 10

8. To transact any other business which may be transacted at an AGM.
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NOTICE OF BOOKS CLOSURE AND DIVIDEND PAYMENT DATE

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that subject to approval being obtained at the Annual General Meeting to be held 
on Thursday, 26 April 2018 at 2.00 p.m.:

1. A First and Final tax exempt (one-tier) Dividend of 0.36 Singapore cents per ordinary share for the 
fi nancial year ended 31 December 2017 (the “Dividend”) will be paid on 18 May 2018. 

2. The Share Transfer Books and Register of Members of the Company will be closed on 8 May 2018 for 
the purpose of determining the shareholders’ entitlement to the Dividend. Duly completed registrable 
transfers received by the Company’s share registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte 
Ltd, at 50 Raffl  es Place, #32-01, Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623, up to the close of business 
at 5.00 p.m. on 7 May 2018 will be registered to determine shareholders’ entitlement to the Dividend. 
Shareholders (being depositors) whose securities accounts with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited 
are credited with ordinary shares in the Company as at 5.00 p.m. on 7 May 2018 will be entitled to the 
Dividend.

By Order of the Board

Pan Shun Ming
Executive Chairman and CEO

11 April 2018

Explanatory Notes:-

1. Resolution 4

 Madam Mai Shuying will, upon her re-election, continues to hold offi  ce as Executive Director of the Company. Madam Mai is 
the substantial shareholder of the Company. She has familial relationships with Mr Pan Shun Ming (spouse), the Executive 
Chairman and Chief Executive Offi  cer and also a substantial shareholder of the Company, and Mr Pan Zhaojin (son), the 
Deputy Chief Operating Offi  cer and also a substantial shareholder of the Company. Detailed information and shareholdings 
of the mentioned personnel can be found under “Board of Directors”, “Key Management”, “Corporate Governance Report” and 
“Shareholders’ Information” in the Company’s Annual Report 2017.

2. Resolution 5

 Mr Pu Jinbo will, upon his re-election, continues to hold offi  ce as Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Offi  cer of the 
Company. He has no relationships including immediate family relationship with each of the other Directors of the Company, 
the Company or its 10% shareholders. Detailed information and shareholdings of Mr Pu can be found under “Board of 
Directors”, “Corporate Governance Report” and “Shareholders’ Information” in the Company’s Annual Report 2017.

3. Resolution 6

 Mr Chung Tang Fong will, upon his re-election, remains as member of the Audit, Nominating and Remuneration Committees. 
The Board considers him to be independent for the purpose of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. He has no 
relationships including immediate family relationship with each of the other Directors of the Company, the Company or its 
10% shareholders. Detailed information of Mr Chung can be found under “Board of Directors” and “Corporate Governance 
Report” in the Company’s Annual Report 2017. 

4. Resolution 7

 Mr Chia Chor Leong will, upon his re-election, remains as the Chairman of the Nominating Committee and member of the 
Audit and Remuneration Committees. The Board considers him to be independent for the purpose of Rule 704(8) of the 
Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. He has no relationships including immediate family relationship with each of the other Directors 
of the Company, the Company or its 10% shareholders. Detailed information of Mr Chia can be found under “Board of 
Directors” and “Corporate Governance Report” in the Company’s Annual Report 2017. 
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5. Resolution 9

 This Ordinary Resolution, if passed, will authorise the Directors, from the date of this Annual General Meeting until the next 
Annual General Meeting, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting is required by law to be held or when varied 
or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is earlier, to allot and issue shares and/or to make or grant 
Instruments convertible into Shares, and to allot and issue Shares in pursuance of such Instruments; up to a limit of  50% of 
the total number of issued Shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any), with a sub-limit 
of 20% for issues other than on a pro rata basis, calculated as described in the Resolution. 

6. Resolution 10

 This Ordinary Resolution, if passed, will authorise the Directors, pursuant to the share issue mandate set out in Resolution 
9, to allot and issue shares other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company, at a discount not exceeding 10% 
to the weighted average price of the shares on the SGX-ST for the full market day on which the placement or subscription 
agreement is signed (or if not available, the weighted average price based on the trades done on the preceding market day).

 In exercising the authority conferred by Resolution 10, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the Listing Manual 
of the SGX-ST (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST), all applicable legal requirements and the Company’s 
Constitution. Rule 811(1) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST presently provides that an issue of shares must not be priced at 
more than 10% discount to the weighted average price for trades done on the SGX-ST for the full market day on which the 
placement or subscription agreement is signed (or if not available, the weighted average price based on the trades done on 
the preceding market day).

Notes:

1. (a) A member who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak 
and vote at the Meeting. Where such member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the proportion of the shareholdings 
concerned to be represented by each proxy shall be specifi ed in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. If no 
proportion of shareholdings is specifi ed, the proxy whose name appears fi rst shall be deemed to carry one hundred per 
cent (100%) of the shareholdings of his/its appointor and the proxy whose name appears after shall be deemed to be 
appointed in the alternate.

 (b) A member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote at 
the Meeting, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a diff erent share or shares held by 
such member. Where such member appoints more than two (2) proxies, the number and class of shares in relation to 
which each proxy has been appointed shall be specifi ed in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.

 “Relevant Intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Act.

2. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. 

3. If the member is a corporation, the instrument appointing the proxy/proxies must be under common seal or under the hand 
of its attorney duly authorised or its authorised offi  cer or in such a manner as appropriate under applicable laws.

4. A depositor’s name must appear on the Depository Register maintained by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited as at forty 
eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting in order for the Depositor to be entitled to attend and 
vote at the AGM.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy(ies) must be deposited at the offi  ce of the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom 
Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., at 50 Raffl  es Place, #32-01, Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623, not less than 
forty eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/or any 
adjournment thereof, a Shareholder (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the 
Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and 
representatives for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, 
minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including and adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its 
agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants 
that where the Shareholder discloses the personal data of the Shareholder’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or 
its agents), the Shareholder has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and 
disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) 
agrees that the Shareholder will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages 
as a result of the Shareholder’s breach of warranty.



SOUTHERN PACKAGING GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration Number: 200313312N)

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
PROXY FORM

Important:
1. A relevant intermediary (as defi ned in Section 181 of the Companies Act 

(Chapter 50) may appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and 
vote at the Annual General Meeting.

2. For CPF/SRS investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Southern 
Packaging Group Limited shares, this form of proxy is not valid for use 
and shall be ineff ective for all intents and purposes if used or purported 
to be used by them. CPF/SRS investors should contact their respective 
Agent Banks if they have queries regarding their appointment as proxies.

I/We,  (name and NRIC/Passport/Company No.) 

of  (address) 
being a member/members of SOUTHERN PACKAGING GROUP LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint: 

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %

Address

and/or (strike as appropriate)
Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %
Address

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting of the Company (the “Meeting”) as my/our 
proxy/proxies to attend, speak and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Meeting to be held at Indiana 
Room, Level 4, Raffl  es City Convention Centre, Fairmont Singapore and Swissotel The Stamford, 80 Bras 
Basah Road, Singapore 189560 on Thursday, 26 April 2018 at 2.00 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof. 
I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for/against the resolutions to be proposed at the Meeting as 
indicated hereunder. In the absent of specifi c direction as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies may vote or 
abstain from voting at his/her discretion, as he/they may on any other matter arising at the meeting.

ORDINARY BUSINESS No. of votes 
FOR*

No. of votes 
AGAINST*

Resolution 1 Adoption of the Audited Financial Statements for the fi nancial 
year ended 31 December 2017 and the Directors’ Statement 
together with the Auditors’ Report.

Resolution 2 Declaration of fi rst and fi nal tax exempt (one-tier) dividend 
of 0.36 Singapore cents (S$0.0036) per ordinary share for the 
fi nancial year ended 31 December 2017.

Resolution 3 Approval of Directors’ fees of S$162,160 for the fi nancial year 
ended 31 December 2017.

Resolution 4 Re-election of Madam Mai Shuying as Director.
Resolution 5 Re-election of Mr Pu Jinbo as Director.
Resolution 6 Re-election of Mr Chung Tang Fong as Director.
Resolution 7 Re-election of Mr Chia Chor Leong as Director.
Resolution 8 Re-appointment of Messrs BDO LLP as the auditors of the 

Company and authorisation to the Directors to fix their 
remuneration.
SPECIAL BUSINESS

Resolution 9 Authority to allot and issue shares.
Resolution 10 Authority to issue shares at a discount.

*  Voting will be conducted by poll. If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against” the relevant resolution, please tick “X” in the 
relevant box provided. Alternatively, if you wish to exercise your votes both “For” or “Against” the relevant resolution, please indicate 
the number of shares in the boxes provided.

Dated this  day of  2018
Total Number of Shares held (Note 1)

Signature(s) of Members(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF





NOTES:

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register 
(maintained by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited), you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares registered 
in your name in the Register of Members of the Company (maintained by or on behalf of the Company), you should insert 
that number of shares. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in 
your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares. If no number is inserted, this 
instrument appointing proxy or proxies will be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you. 

2. (a)  A member who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak 
and vote at the meeting. Where such member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the proportion of the shareholding 
concerned to be represented by each proxy shall be specifi ed in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. If no 
proportion of shareholdings is specifi ed, the proxy whose name appears fi rst shall be deemed to carry one hundred per 
cent (100%) of the shareholdings of his/its appointor and the proxy whose name appears after shall be deemed to be 
appointed in the alternate. 

 (b) A member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote at 
the meeting, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a diff erent share or shares held by 
such member. Where such member appoints more than two (2) proxies, the number and class of shares in relation to 
which each proxy has been appointed shall be specifi ed in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. 

 “Relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act (Chapter 50) (the “Act”).

3. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

4. An investor who buys shares using CPF monies (“CPF Investor”) and/or SRS monies (“SRS Investor”) (as may be applicable) 
may attend and cast his vote(s) at the Meeting in person. CPF and/or SRS Investors who are unable to attend the Meeting but 
would like to vote, may inform their CPF and/or SRS Approved Nominees to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting to act as 
their proxy, in which case, the CPF and/or SRS Investors shall be precluded from attending the Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the offi  ce of the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom 
Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., 50 Raffl  es Place, #32-01, Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623, not less than forty 
eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting.

6. Where an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the power of attorney 
or a duly certifi ed copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, 
failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

7. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in 
writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its 
common seal or under the hand of its attorney duly authorised or its authorised offi  cer or in such a manner as appropriate 
under applicable laws.

8. Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall not preclude a member from attending and 
voting at the Meeting. Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the Meeting 
in person, and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the 
instrument of proxy, to the Meeting.

9. A corporation which is a member may by resolution of its directors or other governing body authorise such person as it thinks 
fi t to act as its representative at the meeting, in accordance with its Constitution and Section 179 of the Act.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed, 
illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specifi ed in the 
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies (including any related attachment). In addition, in the case of a member whose shares are 
entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, 
being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at forty eight (48) hours 
before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certifi ed by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company. 

Personal Data Privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal data 
privacy terms set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 11 April 2018.



BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Pan Shun Ming  
(Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Chen Xiang Zhi  
(Executive Director and Vice Chairman)

Pu Jinbo  
(Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Mai Shuying  
(Executive Director)

Li Yonghua  
(Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer)

Yeung Koon Sang @ David Yeung  
(Lead Independent Director)

Chung Tang Fong  
(Independent Director)

Chia Chor Leong  
(Independent Director)

Tan Jiansheng  
(Independent Director) 

Guo Weihai  
(Independent Director)

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Yeung Koon Sang @ David Yeung (Chairman)
Chung Tang Fong
Chia Chor Leong
Tan Jiansheng
Guo Weihai

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Yeung Koon Sang @ David Yeung (Chairman)
Chung Tang Fong
Chia Chor Leong
Tan Jiansheng 
Guo Weihai

NOMINATING COMMITTEE
Chia Chor Leong (Chairman)
Yeung Koon Sang @ David Yeung
Chung Tang Fong
Tan Jiansheng 
Guo Weihai

COMPANY SECRETARIES
Kong Wei Fung
Cheok Hui Yee

REGISTERED OFFICE
80 Robinson Road
#02-00
Singapore 068898
Website: www.southern-packaging.com
T: +65 6236 3333
F: +65 6236 4399

SHARE REGISTRAR
Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd.
50 Raffles Place,
Singapore Land Tower #32-01,
Singapore 048623
T: +65 6536 5355
F: +65 6438 8710

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
BDO LLP
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants
600 North Bridge Road
#23-01 Parkview Square
Singapore 188778
Partner-in-charge: Lew Wan Ming
(Appointed since the financial year ended  
31 December 2017)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Agricultural Bank of China (Nanhai Pingzhou Sub-Branch)
Bank of China Limited (Nanhai Sub-Branch)
Bank of Communications Limited (Changzhou Branch)
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